Physical Activity and Diet in the Management of Individuals with Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus: A review of interventions and policies in Ghana, Sub-Saharan Africa and Lower-Middle Income Countries

Adwoa F. Agyemang-Benneh

Ghana ICHD 2016/2017

 53_{rd} Master of Science, Public Health/International Course in Health Development 18 September 2016 - 7 September, 2017

KIT (ROYAL TROPICAL INSTITUTE) Health Education/ Vrije Universiteit Amsterdam Physical Activity and Diet in the Management of individuals with Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus: A review of interventions and policies in Ghana, Sub-Saharan Africa and Lower-Middle Income Countries

A thesis submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirement for the degree of Master of Science in Public Health by:

ADWOA F. AGYEMANG-BENNEH

GHANA

Declaration:

Where other people's work has been used (either from a printed source, internet or any other source) this has been carefully acknowledged and referenced in accordance with departmental requirements.

The thesis 'Physical Activity and Diet in the Management of Individuals with Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus: A review of interventions and policies in Ghana, Sub-Saharan Africa and Lower Middle Income Countries' is my own work.

Signature

53rd Master of Science, Public Health/International Course in Health Development (MScPH/ICHD) September 18, 2016 – September 7, 2017

KIT (Royal Tropical Institute)/ Vrije Universiteit Amsterdam
Amsterdam, The Netherlands
September 2017
Organised by:
KIT (Royal Tropical Institute) Health Unit
Amsterdam, The Netherlands
In co-operation with: Vrije Universiteit Amsterdam/ Free University of
Amsterdam (VU) Amsterdam, The Netherlands

Table of Contents

LIST OF TABLES	v
LIST OF FIGURES	V
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT	VI
ABBREVIATIONS	VII
GLOSSARY	IX
THESIS ABSTRACT	XI
INTRODUCTION	XII
CHAPTER 1: BACKGROUND, BURDEN OF DISEASE AND DIABETES	1
1.1 BACKGROUND	1
1.1.1 GENERAL INFORMATION	1
1.1.2 Socio-economic situation	1
1.1.3 DIET AND PHYSICAL ACTIVITY CULTURE.	1
1.1.4 HEALTH SYSTEM	2
1.2. BURDEN OF DISEASE	3
1.3 DIABETES	4
CHAPTER 2: PROBLEM STATEMENT, JUSTIFICATION, OBJECTIVES, METH	<u>ODOLOGY,</u>
CONCEPTUAL FRAMEWORK AND LIMITATIONS	7
2.1 Problem Statement	7
2.2 JUSTIFICATION	9
2.3 GENERAL OBJECTIVE	9
2.4 SPECIFIC UBJECTIVES:	9
2.5 METHODOLOGY	9
2.5.5 INCLUSION AND EXCLUSION CRITERIA	12
2.5.4 STOLT SELECTION 2.5.5 CONCEPTIAL EDAMEWORK	12
2.5.6 LIMITATIONS	13
CHAPTER 3: ANALYSIS OF STUDY FINDINGS	19
3.1 CHARACTERISTICS OF SEARCH RESULTS	19
3.1.1 INTERVENTION STUDIES	19
3.1.2 Systematic Reviews	20
3.1.2 POLICIES	21
3.2 MICRO LEVEL (PATIENT INTERACTION)	25
3.2.1 PATIENTS AND FAMILIES	25
3.2.2. Health care team	28
3.2.3 COMMUNITY PARTNERS	29
3.2 Meso level	32
3.2.1 HEALTH CARE URGANIZATION	32
3.2.2 COMMUNITY 3.3 Macro level (Positive Policy Environment)	36 38
	50
CHAPTER 4: DISCUSSION	44

	+4
4.1 MICRO-LEVEL	44
4.2 MESO LEVEL	45
4.3. MACRO LEVEL	47
CHAPTER 5 CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS 4	<u> 49</u>
5.1 CONCLUSION 4	49
5.2 RECOMMENDATIONS 55	50
5.2.1 INTERVENTIONS	50
5.2.2. POLICY 5	51
5.2.3. RESEARCH	51
<u>REFERENCES</u> 5	<u>52</u>
ANNEX	<u>68</u>
ANNEX 1: THE INNOVATIVE CARE FOR CHRONIC CONDITIONS FRAMEWORK	68
ANNEX 2: TABLE SHOWING CHARACTERISTICS OF INTERVENTION STUDIES	69
ANNEX 3: TABLE SHOWING CHARACTERISTICS OF PATIENTS IN INTERVENTION STUDIES	75
ANNEX 4 TABLE SHOWING OUTCOME MEASURES OF INTERVENTION STUDIES	79

List of tables

Table No	Title	Page
		No
Table 1	Key words for search strategy	11
Table 2	List of policies by country, type, target group, year and author	23

List of figures

Figure No	Title	Page No
Figure 1:	Graph of Top 10 Causes of Mortality in Ghana with Percentage change between 2005 and 2015	3
Figure 2:	Ghana Country Profile on Non-Communicable Diseases	4
Figure 3:	Flowchart of Selection Criteria for Physical Activity and Dietary Interventions for Management of Type 2 Diabetes in Ghana, Sub-Saharan Africa and other lower-middle income countries	14
Figure 4	Flowchart of Selection Criteria for Physical Activity and Dietary Policies for Management of Type 2 Diabetes Patients in Ghana, Sub-Saharan Africa and other lower-middle income countries	15
Figure 5	Levels of the Health Care System	16
Figure 6	Adapted Innovative Care for Chronic Conditions Framework for Better Outcomes for Management of Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus Patients	18
Figure 7	Graph of Number of Interventions per Location of Study	19

Acknowledgement

I thank God for His protection, grace and mercies throughout this year in Amsterdam.

I acknowledge the National Health Insurance Authority for providing the scholarship to pursue this program. Without this opportunity, I would not have met the awesome classmates and lifelong friends I have made, for whom I am sincerely grateful.

I wish to also thank my supervisor and back stopper, whose guidance helped me complete this thesis.

Finally, I thank my family for the sacrifices each member made to help me pursue public health studies, especially my darling Naya, who went without her mother for twelve long months. God bless you all.

Abbreviations

BDI: Buddy Doctor Initiative BMI: Body Mass Index CHPS: Community-based Health Planning and Services CHW: Community Health Workers **CPD:** Continuous Professional Development DBP: Diastolic Blood Pressure DRC: Democratic Republic of Congo FBS: Fasting Blood Sugar **GDP:** Gross Domestic Product GGHE: General Government Health Expenditure GHS: Ghana Health Service GI: Glycaemic index GL: Glycaemic Load HbA1c: Glycated Haemoglobin HDL: High Density lipoprotein HRM: Heart Rate Monitor ICCC: Innovative Care for Chronic Conditions KBTH: Korle Bu Teaching Hospital LMIC: Low and Middle-Income Countries MoFA: Ministry of Food and Agriculture MoH: Ministry of Health MoTI: Ministry of Trade and Industry MoYS: Ministry of Youth and Sports NCD: Non-Communicable Disease NDRC: National Diabetes Research Centre NHIA: National Health Insurance Authority NHIS: National Health Insurance Scheme PEN: Package for Essential NCD interventions QoL: Quality of Life RCT: Randomized Controlled Trial **RHNP:** Regenerative Health and Nutrition Program SBP: Systolic Blood Pressure SMS: Short Message Service SSA: Sub-Saharan Africa STG: Standard Treatment Guidelines T2DM: Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus

VU: Vrije Universitait WHO: World Health Organization QoL: Quality of Life

Glossary

Diabetes mellitus: 'Diabetes (mellitus) is a chronic condition that occurs when the body cannot produce enough insulin or cannot use insulin, and is diagnosed by observing raised levels of glucose in the blood'¹. There are three main types: type 1, type 2 and gestational diabetes¹.

Healthy diet: Daily consumption of components of the different food groups of the right quality in the right quantity. It contains a reduced amount of refined sugars and fats, and increased fruits and vegetables. It varies depending on culture and lifestyle².

Diabetic diet: Individualized diet or diet plans for people with diabetes

Physical activity: 'Bodily movement produced by skeletal muscles that requires energy expenditure'³. It may also be referred to as exercise. It is sometimes classified as moderate or vigorous intensity.

Moderate intensity physical activity: 'requires a moderate amount of effort and noticeably accelerates the heart rate'⁴. Examples include walking, dancing and gardening.

Vigorous intensity physical activity: 'requires a large amount of effort and causes rapid breathing and a substantial increase in heart rate'⁴. Examples include running, fast cycling and carrying heavy load.

Sedentary/inactive lifestyle: 'Insufficient physical activity'⁵ in an individual's lifestyle.

Glycaemic control: Levels of blood glucose in an individual with diabetes⁶. It is measured by glycated haemoglobin (HbA1c), fasting blood glucose or post-prandial glucose levels. Values for these parameters for diagnosis of diabetes are:

Glycated haemoglobin⁷: $\geq 6.5\%$

Fasting Blood Sugar⁸: ≥126mg/dl

Postprandial glucose levels⁸: ≥200mg/dl

Body mass index (BMI) ⁹: 'a simple index of weight-for-height that is commonly used to classify underweight, overweight and obesity in adults. It is defined as the weight in kilograms divided by the square of the height in metres'.

Blood pressure¹⁰: Pressure of blood circulating within an individual's arteries. Normal values are

Systolic Blood pressure: ≤120mmHg Diastolic Blood pressure: ≤90mmHg **Lipid Profile**: A medical investigation to determine quality and quantity of lipids in an individual's blood. It provides the following measures¹¹:

Total cholesterol Low-density lipoprotein (bad cholesterol) High-density lipoprotein (good cholesterol) Triglycerides

Intervention: 'An act performed for, with or on behalf of a person or population whose purpose is to assess, improve, maintain, promote or modify health, functioning or health conditions'¹². Interventions in this study include experimental studies and intervention studies on self-management and education, which focus on physical activity and diet in people with type 2 diabetes mellitus.

Policy: 'A set of ideas or a plan of what to do in particular situations that has been agreed to officially by a group of people, a business organization, a government or a political party'¹³. A policy in this study refers to any government policy document, strategy, guideline, action plan, legislation or regulation.

Adwoa F. Agyemang-Benneh. Ghana

Thesis Abstract

Background:

Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus (T2DM) is increasing in prevalence, contributing to 6% of total mortality in Africa. Lifestyle changes can help improve health outcomes, yet physical activity and diet in the management of T2DM patients in Ghana appears to be underutilized.

<u>Objective</u>:

The study examined physical activity and dietary interventions and policies in the management of people with T2DM in Ghana, and in Sub-Saharan Africa (SSA) and lower-middle income countries, in order to make recommendations for improving health outcomes in Ghanaian patients. Methodology:

An extensive review of literature was done systematically to identify policies and interventions in Ghana, as well as in SSA and lower middle-income countries, which emphasize physical activity and diet in the management of T2DM. An adapted innovative care for chronic conditions (ICCC) framework was used to analyse findings under the micro, meso and macro levels. <u>Results</u>:

Interventions in Ghana are few, but there is focus on development of human resource in health. There is less focus on implementation of policy recommendations, or provision of context-specific guidelines for physical activity and diet. In SSA and lower middle-income countries, education interventions, community-based and culturally appropriate interventions appear to improve health outcomes. Policies exist in most countries but many policies appear to lack implementation, and few provide financing options, legislation and inter-sectorial partnerships.

Conclusion and Recommendations:

Effective interventions and policies can be applied to the Ghanaian context. The Ministry of Health (MoH) must initiate context specific diet and exercise interventions and adopt culturally appropriate policies with enforced implementation.

Keywords: physical activity, diet, management, type 2 diabetes mellitus, Ghana

Word Count: 13, 121

Introduction

Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus (T2DM) is a non-communicable disease whose prevalence is rapidly increasing particularly in developing countries, such as are in Sub-Saharan Africa (SSA). It is expected that by 2040, there would be a 143% increase in T2DM prevalence in Africa as compared to the 53% global increase¹⁴. As such, effective measures must be put in place to prevent complications and improve quality of life of people with T2DM.

The political declaration of the 2011 United Nations General Assembly on NCD prevention and control¹⁵ and Global Action Plan for NCD prevention and control¹⁶ both show the extent of global reaction to the problem of NCDs, including T2DM¹⁷.

The management of people with T2DM is complex and good outcomes involve patients, health care providers, the community and the nation as a whole.

As a practicing dentist, I came across people with T2DM who claimed adherence to medication, but complained of difficulty with adhering to diet and physical activity recommendations. As a clinical auditor, I also noticed that clinicians rarely documented non-pharmacological prescriptions. Noticing the gap, I decided to explore how effective physical activity and dietary interventions and policies can be used in Ghana for improved health outcomes among people with T2DM.

This study is an extensive literature review of physical activity and dietary interventions and policies in the management of people with T2DM in Ghana, as well as in SSA and lower middle-income countries. It is presented under five chapters:

- Chapter 1 gives a brief overview of the Ghanaian background, health system and burden of disease, as well as diabetes and its characteristics in the country.
- Chapter 2 presents the problem statement, justification and objectives, methodology, analytical framework and limitations.
- Chapter 3 presents the analysis of findings of the study, using the analytical framework.
- Chapter 4 discusses findings of the study and its relation to the Ghanaian context.
- Chapter 5 concludes the study, bringing out the salient evidence gathered, and will suggest recommendations for Ghana.

Chapter 1: Background, Burden of Disease and Diabetes

1.1 Background

1.1.1 General Information

Ghana is an Anglophone country in West Africa. It has a population of approximately 27 million people, a population growth rate of 2.3%, total fertility rate of 4.03 children born/woman, and a sex ratio of 95.2 males to 100 females^{18, 19}. Although 54% of the population fall below the age of 25years, 5% of the population are above 65 years, and this proportion is one of the highest for SSA countries^{19, 20}.

Population density in Ghana was 103 persons/squared kilometres in 2010^{20} and rapid urbanization is taking place with an annual rate of urbanization of $3.4\%^{19}$. Thus, about 54% of the population resides in urban areas and this number is expected to increase to 63% by $2025^{19, 21}$.

Literacy rate of Ghanaians above 14 years is 76.6% but only 44.56% of adults 65 years and above are literate²².

Life expectancy from birth has increased from 38/43years (male/female) in 1979 to 60/63 years (male/female) in 2013 and was estimated to increase to 66.6 years for the total population by $2016^{19, 20, 23}$.

1.1.2 Socio-economic situation

Ghana attained lower middle-income status per World Bank classifications in $2011^{18, 24}$ and by 2014, gross domestic product (GDP) per capita was \$1,432²⁵. The service sector made the largest contribution to the GDP in 2014²⁶. People engaged in professional, clerical, sales and service jobs have increased from 23.4% in males and 46.6% in females in 2003 to 29% in males and 59.5% in females in 2014^{20, 27}.

Seventy-one percent of urban dwellers in the country belong to the first two wealthiest quintiles²⁰. Yet, 24% of the total population fall below the poverty line and majority reside in rural areas²⁸.

1.1.3 Diet and Physical Activity Culture.

Ghanaians prefer to eat at home with family, sharing meals with starchy staples such as cassava²⁹. They also consume vegetables and fruits an average of only 3-4 days in a week in 2014²⁰. Recent changes have resulted in increased indulgence in 'fast foods' including salty and canned foods, and processed snacks outside the home^{20, 30}.

A new emerging culture is one of increased physical activity through gyms and social clubs. These are usually found in the upper and middle-income population and among young men³¹. Physical activity is low in urban poor areas and lack of places to exercise has been cited as a contributing factor³⁰.

1.1.4 Health System

The Health system in Ghana is governed by the Ministry of Health (MoH), which makes policies as well as generates and allocates resources²³. Health agencies, such as the Ghana Health Service (GHS) and the National Health Insurance Authority, are under the supervision of MoH.

The three-tier system in the GHS provides a gatekeeping strategy intended for early treatment at the primary level and prompt referral to higher levels where required²³. Thus, at the primary level, Community-based Health Planning and Services (CHPS) compounds and health centres provide primary care in the community; the secondary level is represented by district hospitals; and teaching and specialist hospitals form the tertiary level²³.

Community Health Workers (CHW) and nurses are the main clinical staff at the primary level²³. Private standalone pharmacies and licenced chemist shops also provide healthcare services to Ghanaians³².

The health system in Ghana has an active private sector. It is estimated that private health care providers offer 55% of health care services³³ and in 2008 private not-for-profit providers constituted 20% of all private facilities³⁴. Private-for-profit providers also form 40% of facilities accredited to the NHIS³⁵.

The Ghanaian health system has seen overall improvements over the years, including a 26% increase of the public health sector workforce (from 42,193 in 2007 to 57,038 in 2015) ³⁶. There has also been an increase in the number of health facilities (hospitals, clinics and health centres) from 3,110 in 2008 to 5,865 in 2015^{34, 37}.

General government health expenditure (GGHE) forms 7% of general government expenditure (GGE) 38 but this is below the 15% agreed upon by African country heads in the Abuja Declaration 39 .

The National Health Insurance Scheme (NHIS) was set up to provide financial security for Ghanaians with regards to health care. About 70% of funds for the NHIS is from tax sources⁴⁰. NHIS covers diagnosis and clinical treatment for over 90% of both communicable and non-communicable diseases prevalent in the country^{35, 41}. But out of pocket payment still forms about 27% of total health expenditure³⁸.

1.2. Burden of disease

Lower respiratory infections, cerebrovascular diseases, ischaemic heart disease and malaria constitute the top causes of mortality in the Ghanaian population⁴² (see figure 1), but there has been improvement in other health parameters. Diarrheal diseases have decreased by 48% between 2005 and 2015⁴² and vaccination coverage for measles 2 has increased from 52% in 2002 to 75% in 2014⁴³. Although still high, slight reductions have occurred in maternal mortality ratio (from 467 deaths/100,000 live births in 2000 to 319 deaths/100,000 live births in 2015) ^{19, 44} and infant mortality rate (from 64.9 deaths/1000 live births to 42.8 deaths/1000 live births for both sexes in the same period) ^{18, 19}.

Figure 1: Graph of Top 10 Causes of Mortality in Ghana with Percentage change between 2005 and 2015⁴²



Top 10 causes of death by rate in 2015 and percent change, 2005-2015 Source Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation, 2015

Rapid urbanization, changes in work environment and migration into more urban communities has resulted in changes in lifestyle, diet and physical activity levels of the population⁴⁵. The on-going epidemiologic transition⁴⁶, lifestyle changes and the aging Ghanaian population, contribute to an increase in the risk for and the occurrence of non-communicable diseases (NCDs). Crude prevalence of hypertension in one study was 28.4%⁴⁷ and overweight and obese women in the country have increased from 30% in 2008 to 40% in 2014²⁰. Increased risk factors have resulted in an increase in NCDs in the country (figure 1). Stroke, hypertension, diabetes and cancer collectively result in more admissions and deaths in adults in the country compared to any communicable disease³¹.

Figure 2: Ghana Country Profile on Non-Communicable Diseases, 201448



Source, WHO Non-Communicable Disease Country Profiles, 2014

1.3 Diabetes

Currently, one out of every 11 adults in the world has diabetes and in 2015, the disease was culpable for 5 million deaths in adults, globally¹. In Africa, diabetes was responsible for an estimated 6% of total deaths in 2010, including premature mortality in adults^{1, 49}. Mortality from diabetes may

however be an underestimation, as its complications, such as renal failure, are usually the documented causes of death⁵⁰.

It is estimated that the number of Ghanaians with diabetes will increase from 517,000 in 2011 to 1,036,000 in 2030^{51} . This figure will represent roughly 4.5% of the adult population in $2030^{51, 52}$, but the true figure may be higher due to the growing and aging population, and possible improvements in detection of cases. In Ghana, mortality from diabetes has also increased by almost 17% between 2005 and 2015⁴² (see figure 1)

Diabetic complications are also present in the country. Over a 31-year period, hospital admissions for diabetic complications increased by 633% in one tertiary hospital in the country⁵³. In one study, individuals with diabetes in rural Ghana suffered from complications such as hypertension or depression⁵⁴.

Complications from diabetes arise when the disease is poorly managed. These complications include increased susceptibility to infections, including malaria and tuberculosis, increased risk of renal and cardiovascular diseases and nerve damage^{1, 55, 56}. Depression, one of the major contributors to global burden of disease, is another complication of diabetes⁵⁷⁻⁵⁹. Diabetes may result in miscarriages, stillbirths and infertility, which have severe cultural implications on an individual⁶⁰. The disease is also associated with stigma, for instance, where poor glycaemic control results in loss of weight⁵⁴.

However, the risk of complications is significantly reduced when clinical parameters such as blood pressure and glucose levels are well regulated⁶¹⁻⁶³.

Type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) represents about 90% of diabetes cases¹. It occurs in both males and females and commonly in people between 40 and 59 years¹. Although majority of people with T2DM in Africa are undiagnosed, urban dwellers are usually more affected by T2DM, and this has been linked with increased sedentary lifestyle and unhealthy diets^{1, 64}. A recent study showed that prevalence of T2DM in rural Ghana was 3.6% for men and 5.5% for women, whereas urban men and women had prevalence of 10.3% and 9.2% respectively⁶⁵. Urban population with diabetes increases with lower level of education, while diabetes in rural

5

areas is associated with increasing education levels⁶⁶. T2DM is also known to occur in people who are obese and of low socioeconomic status in Ghana⁶⁷.

Chapter 2: Problem Statement, Justification, Objectives, Methodology, Conceptual Framework and Limitations

2.1 Problem Statement

There has been some response to prevention of diabetes and other NCDs in Ghana. The Regenerative Health and Nutrition Program (RHNP) was carried out between 2006 and 2007 to promote healthy lifestyle among Ghanaians⁶⁸. This blanket approach for primary prevention of NCDs contributed to increased sensitization of the public on healthy lifestyle and diet through television and radio stations in Ghana⁶⁹. The RHNP also trained about 1,000 change agents to educate their families and communities on healthy diet, increased physical activity and increased consumption of water^{68, 69}. But management of people with diabetes in the country appears to be inadequate in some aspects⁷⁰.

Increases in the occurrence of diabetic complications and mortality have been attributed to inadequate management of patients with diabetes in Ghana⁷⁰. Ineffective management and self-care practices have been attributed to 'problematic assumptions' made on diabetes treatment and interventions by individuals, health care providers, and policy makers and implementers⁷⁰.

Medication plays an important role in management of many patients with T2DM^{1, 71}. In Ghana, biomedicine is often the prioritized area for care⁷². Access to medication has also increased through the NHIS, which spends 10.3% of its total cost of medication on diabetes treatment alone⁷³. The NHIS also covers outpatient services including laboratory investigations and in-patient admissions for diabetic complications in insured patients⁷⁴. Still, other aspects of management of T2DM are left unattended to.

Healthy diet, physical activity and weight management have been described as essential for management of type 2 diabetes^{1, 75}, and are some of the evidence-based recommendations made by the World Health Organization (WHO) for management of diabetes⁷⁶. Non-pharmacological aspects of management can aid in achieving positive outcomes by maintaining glycaemic control, blood pressure and improving quality of life⁷⁷. Conflicting evidence in recent studies however, indicate otherwise, arguing that the effects of diet and exercise in reduction of morbidity and/or mortality in people with T2DM are inconclusive⁷⁸. Unfortunately, literature on effectiveness of physical activity and dietary interventions in Ghana is low.

An individual's knowledge, beliefs and attitudes towards a disease influence health outcomes⁷⁹. Cultural norms also play a role in lifestyle choices, such as dietary preferences and physical activity, and may positively or otherwise influence management of T2DM⁷⁹. Individuals with T2DM in Ghana may not be informed about the potential severity of the disease, and some patients have inadequate glycaemic control despite knowing their disease status^{30, 80}. Patients in Ghana cite difficulty in giving up favourite foods, unaffordability of recommended foods and lack of exercising areas as some barriers to self-care practices^{54, 81}.

The community provides a support structure within which patients, families and health facilities interact. But misconceptions about diabetes and its complications may lead to stigmatization in Ghana⁷⁰ and affect the community's contribution to help individuals.

Health care organisation can also influence outcomes in management of people with T2DM. A multidisciplinary health team, which offers education, and support to patients, may result in good outcomes⁸². Little is known of use of health care teams to care for patients with T2DM in Ghana. However, one study indicated that more than 90% of nurses assessed in the country were not aware of dietary recommendations for people with diabetes⁸³.

On a national level, policies, strategies, plans and legislation, which help for adoption of healthy lifestyles also contribute to improved management of diabetes⁸⁴. A preliminary search could not identify national-level programs in Ghana, which promoted healthy diet and physical activity in people with T2DM.

Together, patients, community partners and health teams, the community and health care organization, and the policy environment constitute the micro, meso and macro levels of the health care system within which care for chronic conditions, including diabetes, may be tackled^{84, 85}.

2.2 Justification

There is a gap in evidence of interventions, policies and programmatic responses to the management of T2DM patients in Ghana, where physical activity and dietary recommendations are concerned.

Many studies suggest that diet modifications and physical activity improve glycaemic control, reduce BMI and also improve quality of life of people with diabetes⁸⁶⁻⁸⁸. However, most of these studies were done in high or uppermiddle income countries, and there is paucity on data for Ghana and Sub-Saharan Africa.

Given the rise in T2DM, the amplified interest of the population of Ghana in increased physical activity, and the fact that there may be little intervention or policy response⁶⁹, it is an opportune time to identify evidence applicable to Ghana. Evidence gained will help provide recommendations on lifestyle interventions and policies, which employ diet and physical activity in the management of Ghanaians with T2DM.

2.3 General Objective

To examine interventions and policies related to physical activity and diet in the management of people with T2DM in Ghana, as well as in SSA and lower-middle income countries, in order to make recommendations to policy makers, implementers and stakeholders on how the disease can be effectively managed in Ghanaian patients.

2.4 Specific Objectives:

- 1. To analyse physical activity and dietary interventions and policy recommendations in Ghana in the management of T2DM patients.
- 2. To evaluate interventions and policies in the management of T2DM patients in SSA and in lower-middle income countries, with regards to physical activity and dietary recommendations.
- 3. To make context-specific recommendations to policy makers, implementers and stakeholders on effective lifestyle interventions for management of T2DM in affected Ghanaians.

2.5 Methodology

In order to achieve the objectives of the study, an extensive review of literature and policies was conducted systematically between March and July 2017.

2.5.1 Objective 1

In order to analyse physical activity and dietary interventions and policy recommendations in Ghana in the management of T2DM patients, websites of different government agencies in Ghana i.e., Ministry of Health and its sub-agencies e.g. GHS, Ministry of Youth and Sports (MoYS), Ministry of Food and Agriculture (MoFA) and Ministry of Trade and Industry (MoTI) were searched for policies, strategic plans and population or community level interventions for their recommendations concerning physical activity and diet in the management of type 2 diabetes. A few experts on the topic were also contacted via email for Ghanaian policies. PubMed, Embase and the Vrije Universiteit (VU) library were also searched for interventions in Ghana where physical activity or diet was used on a patient-, communityor population-based level as an intervention for management of the disease in patients. Boolean operators (AND, OR or NOT) were used in combination with key words 'Ghana', 'intervention', 'policy', 'strategy', 'program', 'study', 'exercise', 'physical activity', 'diet', 'nutrition', 'diabetes', and 'T2DM' and their synonyms in the search (Table 1).

2.5.2. Objective 2

In order to evaluate interventions and policies in the management of T2DM patients in SSA and in lower-middle income countries, with regards to physical activity and dietary recommendations, searches were conducted in PubMed, Embase and VU library. Google scholar and Google were searched to identify non-peer reviewed or unpublished documents. Websites of the various health ministries in SSA and lower-middle income countries were also searched for policies, strategic plans and interventions or programs. Again, websites of WHO main and regional offices were searched for country policies related to the study.

Search terms title word [tw] and title/abstract, [ta], indexing terms (MeSH/Emtree) and Boolean operators (AND, OR or NOT) were used in combination with keywords 'exercise', 'physical activity', 'diet therapy', 'intervention', observational study', 'policy', 'strategy', 'diabetes mellitus', 'Sub-Saharan Africa' 'lower-middle income country' and 'developing country' (Table 1).

Physical	А	Diet	A	Interventio	Α	Type II Diabetes	Α	Sub Saharan	OR	LMIC NOT Sub Saharan
Activit*	Ν		Ν	ns/Policies	n		Ν	Africa		Africa
	D		D		d		D			
Aerobic	/	Healthy		Study		Diabetes		Benin,		Afghanistan, Armenia,
exercise	0	diet		Trial		Diabetes Mellitus,		Botswana,		Bangladesh, Bhutan,
Acute	R	Nutrition		Policy		Non-Insulin-		Burkina		Bolivia, Cambodia,
Exercise		Dietary		Program		Dependent		Faso,		Comoros, Egypt, El
Isometric		Intake		Initiative		Diabetes Mellitus,		Cameroun,		Salvador, Eritrea,
exercise		Food		Strategy		Stable		Congo		Guatemala, Honduras,
Fitness		Feeding		Plan		Diabetes Mellitus,		(Brazzaville),		India, Indonesia,
Energy		Consumpti		Report		Type II		Congo (DRC),		Kiribati, Kosovo, Kyrgyz
expenditur		on		Guidelines		Type 2 Diabetes		Ethiopia,		Republic, Lao PDR,
е		Energy				Mellitus		Guinea, Ivory		Mauritania, Micronesia
Physical		Intake				Maturity-Onset		Coast, Kenya,		Fed. Sts, Moldova,
endurance		Carbohydra				Diabetes Mellitus		Lesotho,		Mongolia, Morocco,
Motor		te-				Slow-Onset		Madagascar,		Myanmar, Nepal,
activity		restricted				Diabetes Mellitus		Malawi,		Nicaragua, Pakistan,
Leisure		diet				Adult-Onset		Mauritius,		Papua New Guinea,
activities		Diet				Diabetes		Mozambique,		Philippines, Samoa, Sao
Training		Therapy						Namibia, Niger,		Tome and Principe,
Walking		Diet						Nigeria,		Solomon Islands, Sri
Running		Modificatio						Rwanda,		Lanka, Syrian Arab
Bicycling		n						Senegal, Sierra		Republic, Tajikistan,
Sports								Leone, South		Timor-Leste, Tonga,
								Africa,		Tunisia, Ukraine,
NOT								Swaziland,		Uzbekistan, Vanuatu,
Work								Tanzania, Togo,		Vietnam, West Bank
related								Uganda, Zambia		and Gaza, Yemen
										Republic
			1							

Table 1: Key Words for Search Strategy

2.5.3 Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria

The search focused on interventions and policies in Ghana, then in SSA and lower middle-income countries. SSA and lower-middle income countries were classified using the World Bank database on country classifications^{89, 90}. Results obtained initially were thin and limited to randomized controlled trials for interventions. The search was then broadened to include 'self management' and 'education' interventions, as long as there was a focus on diet and physical activity.

Literature included in this study were observational or experimental studies, interventions, guidelines, programs, and policies from Ghana, SSA and lower-middle income countries where exercise and diet were used or recommended in the management of T2DM patients. For intervention studies, no specification was given as to outcome measures used in the study. Only articles and documents in English and published within the last 10 years (2007 to 2017) were included. This study included policies for Ghana and policies from countries within which intervention studies were found. The researcher intended to identify countries where policy had been translated into practice to some extent, and not just countries that have policies.

Studies were excluded if they used mathematical models or if they were conducted outside SSA, lower-middle income countries or on foreign immigrants. Studies on medication, pregnant women, children, type 1 diabetes, religious studies e.g., studies in Ramadan, studies solely on risk factors, genetic studies and studies on herbal preparations were also excluded.

2.5.4 Study Selection

After duplicates were eliminated for intervention studies from PubMed, VU library and Embase, the researcher conducted a title and abstract screening. Title and abstract screening was done by reading through all titles and abstracts and applying the inclusion and exclusion criteria to the information available to select relevant articles. Articles from Google Scholar and Google were also screened and added to results of title and abstract screening. Full articles were obtained from these results and further screened for inclusion or exclusion (see figure 3). Articles whose full

text could not be obtained were excluded. Study location, sample size, retention rate and level of intervention in the studies were further extracted, together with characteristics of patients and outcome measures of study (see annex 2, 3 and 4).

Documents from websites of government and international agencies were screened independently before selection and addition to the final list. These documents were selected based on their relevance to the study topic, and adherence to inclusion criteria indicated above (see figure 4).

<u>Figure 3</u>: Flowchart of Selection Criteria for Physical Activity and Dietary Interventions for Management of Type 2 Diabetes in Ghana, Sub-Saharan Africa and other lower-middle income countries



<u>Figure 4</u>: Flowchart of Selection Criteria for Physical Activity and Dietary Policies for Management of Type 2 Diabetes Patients in Ghana, Sub-Saharan Africa and other lower-middle income countries



2.5.5 Conceptual framework

To guide the analysis of the study findings, the Innovative Care for Chronic Conditions (ICCC) framework proposed by the WHO was used to describe physical activity and diet interventions and policies for the management of T2DM in Ghana, Sub-Saharan and other lower middle-income countries.

The ICCC framework is a WHO expansion of the chronic care model to describe health system factors, which influence health outcomes in people with chronic conditions⁹¹. It consists of a central triad of patients and families, community partners and the health care team who are fundamental to supportive management of people with chronic conditions. This triad functions best where the community and health care organization favour prevention of and care for chronic conditions. According to the framework, there must exist a positive policy environment, where 'legislation, leadership, policy integration, partnerships, financing, and allocation of human resources ... allow communities and health care organizations to help patients and families with chronic conditions' ⁹¹ (see annex 1).

Hence, the framework can be used to analyse interventions and policies for management of patients with chronic conditions, such as T2DM, on three levels: micro, meso and macro levels (see figure 5).

Figure 5: Levels of the Health Care System⁹¹



Source: WHO Innovative Care for Chronic Conditions, 2002

This study focused on physical activity and diet interventions and policies in the management of T2DM patients, and utilizes the framework to address the following where information is available:

1. On the micro level: information or education on, preparedness for and motivation to increase physical activity and improve diet among

patients. These factors start within the triad of patients and families, the health care team and community partners and depend on how this triad work together to improve health outcomes in patients.

- 2. On the meso-level:
 - a. health care organization: how interventions and policies promote continuity and coordination within and between different levels of health care; emphasis placed on quality care through leadership and incentives; organized and equipped health care teams; how supportive health care system is to selfmanagement practices; and how information systems are employed for better outcomes.
 - b. community: awareness of community including leaders, on function of physical activity and diet on management of T2DM; resources generation and allocation; and complementary dietary and physical activity services to augment health care service.
- 3. On the macro-level: how the policy environment provides high-level leadership and advocacy for physical activity and dietary interventions and policies; how these policies are effectively integrated; how interventions are financed in a sustainable and equitable way; how human resource is distributed and developed to provide physical activity and dietary management of T2DM patients; how favourable legislative frameworks are to support improved diets and increased physical activity; and effective partnerships across the various sectors of government

Socio-cultural and socio-economic conditions also influence the management of patients with T2DM with respect to perceptions of diabetes and its treatment as well as financial means to support healthy diabetic diets and participation in physical activity^{30, 92}. These factors, however, could not be explicitly identified in the ICCC framework. Thus the ICCC framework was adapted to incorporate these aspects for an in-depth analysis of management of T2DM policies and interventions (see figure 6).

<u>Figure 6:</u> Adapted Innovative Care for Chronic Conditions Framework for Better Outcomes in the Management of Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus Patients



2.5.6 Limitations

Limited available research and documentation of interventions in Ghana may influence the study results, and may not provide the best evidence as to the current situation in the country. The researcher tried to overcome this by contacting few diabetes experts in the country, but received limited responses.

Inclusion of only literature in English and those with full access may have also limited the breadth of information obtained in the results.

Limiting this study to physical activity and dietary interventions may have excluded vital lessons to be learnt from other lifestyle modification interventions, where physical activity and diet were not the major focus.

A single researcher conducted the search and study selection, and thus, selection bias may have influenced the findings.

Chapter 3: Analysis of Study Findings

This chapter begins with a brief description of characteristics of interventions and policies found. Then, findings will be presented under the subheadings of the adapted ICCC framework. Under each heading, the sociocultural and socioeconomic factors in the study or within which policies reside are presented where applicable.

Because few interventions were found in Ghana, and for better comparison and analysis of results obtained from different contexts, findings for Ghana, SSA and lower middle-income countries are presented concurrently under the different headings of the micro and meso levels of the framework. Under the subheadings of the macro level of the framework, policies for Ghana are presented first, then notable findings from policies in other countries are analysed.

3.1 Characteristics of Search Results

3.1.1 Intervention studies

Overall, 29 intervention studies were identified in 10 countries. Seventeen articles reported on studies conducted in India, three on South Africa, two on Ghana, and one each for interventions in Cameroon, Mozambique, Nigeria, Indonesia, Sri-Lanka and Mongolia. One article reported on interventions in Cameroon, Uganda and South Africa (see figure 7 and annex 2, 3 and 4)



Figure 7: Graph of Number of Interventions per Location of Study

(Total number exceeds 29 because one article reported interventions in 3 different countries)

Out of the 29 articles, 14 were of interventions that focused on physical activity alone, 2 focused on diet alone and 13 focused on both physical activity and diet. Interventions that focused on diet and physical activity used education or counselling of patients. Interventions focusing on diet or physical activity alone were trials where patients were given specific diets or physical activity regimes. Seventeen out of the 29 studies done were randomized controlled trials (RCT). All studies measured at least one of the following outcome parameters; blood glucose level, glycated haemoglobin (HbA1c), weight loss, body mass index (BMI), blood pressure, lipid profile and lifestyle (physical activity, diet and quality of life) (see annex 4).

3.1.2 Systematic Reviews

Three systematic reviews (SRs) summarized information on dietary and physical activity interventions and policies⁹³⁻⁹⁵. One SR was of studies in low and middle-income countries (LMICs), which used the Diabetes Prevention Program (DPP) or other interventions for prevention and control of T2DM in patients⁹³. This SR did not factor in the sociocultural contexts or policy environments within which individual interventions were carried out and thus, differs from this study. The SR also differs because it includes low income and upper-middle income countries, which are excluded from this study (with the exception of Uganda). Seven interventions⁹⁶⁻¹⁰² selected for this thesis were also discussed in the systematic review, but these seven are analysed in this thesis based on the original studies, and not the SR. Another systematic review was of diabetes care models in LMICs⁹⁵. The aim of the SR was to identify changes in diabetes care by evaluating different models in different LMICs. This review differs from my study in that it does not refer exclusively to the use of physical activity and diet in management of people with T2DM, and does not assess whether these models worked or not. The SR also did not limit included studies to only studies for T2DM. The SR was nonetheless included in the study because it provided insight into the diabetes care model in Ghana. It also refers to the peer support program presented in one study my search identified¹⁰³ but does not add new evidence to the peer support program.

The third systematic review looked at dietary and physical activity policies for NCD prevention in low and middle-income countries (LMIC) ⁹⁴. The SR focuses on prevention policies, and does not provide insight into policy implementation. However, it was included in this thesis because it provided information as to policies available in Mongolia, which could not be assessed due to language constraints.

3.1.2 Policies

Overall, nineteen policies were recovered for seven countries. These policies included treatment guidelines, physical activity and dietary guidelines, policies, strategic and action plans, and programme documents. South Africa had the only food regulation found, which is on salt legislation¹⁰⁴. A summary of the policies is outlined in table 2 below.

Country **Target Group** Year Author Refer Type ence Guidelines No MoH, Ghana 1 Ghana Standard Treatment Guidelines Health workers at all 2010 105 levels 2 Ghana Diet and Physical Activity Guidelines Health workers 2010 MoH, Ghana 106 and educators 3 South Standard Treatment Guidelines Health workers 2014 Department of 107 Health, Africa South Africa 4 South SEMDSA Guidelines for Management of Health workers 2012 Society for 108 Africa Diabetes Endocrinology, metabolism and diabetes of South Africa 5 Nigeria Standard Treatment Guidelines Health workers 2008 Federal 109 MoH, Nigeria 'All Nigerians, especially 6 National Nutritional Guidelines in Non-2014 Federal MoH, 110 Nigeria Communicable Disease Prevention, Control health professionals' Nigeria and Management 7 Sri Lanka Guideline for Management of NCDs in Health workers 2012 MoH, Sri Lanka, 111 Primary Health Care WHO, JICA Health workers: grass-8 Sri Lanka Food Based Dietary Guidelines for Sri 2011 Nutrition 112 Department, MoH, Lankans root level Sri Lanka National Guidelines for Management of 9 Uganda Health workers 2016 MoH, Uganda 113 **Common Conditions Policy document** National Policy for Prevention and Control of **Policy Implementers** MoH, Ghana 10 Ghana 2012 114 NCDs in Ghana National Policy and Strategic Plan of Action 11 **Policy Implementers** 2013 Federal MoH, 115 Nigeria on Non-Communicable Diseases Nigeria

Table 2: A table showing list of policies by country, type, target group, year and author

	Strategic/Action Plans													
12	Ghana	Strategy for the Management, Prevention and Control of Chronic Non-Communicable Diseases in Ghana	Policy Implementers	MoH, Ghana	116									
13	Nigeria	National Strategic Plan of Action on Prevention and Control of Non Communicable Diseases	Policy Implementers	2015	Federal MoH, Nigeria	117								
14	South Africa	Strategic Plan for the Prevention and Control of Non-Communicable Diseases	2013-2017	Department of Health, South Africa	118									
15	Sri Lanka	The National Policy and Strategic Framework for Prevention and Control of Chronic Non- communicable Diseases	Policy Implementers	2009	Ministry of Healthcare and Nutrition, Sri Lanka	119								
16	Sri Lanka	National Multi-sectorial Action Plan for the Prevention and Control of Non- communicable DiseasesPolicy Implementers2016-2020Ministry of Health Nutrition an Indigenous Medicine, S Lanka												
	Programme Documents													
17	Mongolia	National Programme on Prevention and Control of Non-Communicable Diseases	Programme implementers		MoH, Mongolia	94								
18	India	Operational Guidelines for National Programme for Prevention and Control of Cancer, Diabetes, Cardiovascular Diseases and Stroke (NPCDCS)	State government	2013	Central Government	121								
	Food Regulation													
19	South Africa	Regulations Relating to the Reduction of Sodium in Certain Foodstuffs and Related Matters	General Public	2012	Department of Health, South Africa	104								
3.2 Micro Level (patient interaction)

The micro level of the framework consists of patients and families, members of the health care team and community partners⁹¹. For positive health outcomes in people with chronic conditions such as T2DM, this triad must be well informed about the disease, motivated to actively participate in management of the disease and be prepared with skills necessary for management of the condition⁸⁴.

3.2.1 Patients and families

Five studies aimed to inform patients on the need to improve dietary and physical activity practices through education interventions¹²²⁻¹²⁶.

In one study in India, though exercise frequency and intensity increased, dietary patterns and glucose levels did not change significantly after the education intervention¹²². Here, all participants were advised on increased daily physical activity but only a selected group was educated on dietary adaptations. Selective dietary education may have influenced the findings.

In another study, which aimed to reduce weight in obese diabetics through education, only insulin levels significantly increased by 3.66microU/ml in the intervention group¹²³. 67% of participants in this study in Indonesia were women. It is possible that the gender role influenced women's capability and decision space to change lifestyle, including adjusting diet and increasing physical activity and may have influenced study outcomes.

In one study in South Africa, there were no significant differences in clinical parameters and behaviour changes after the intervention¹²⁴. Non-significant results were attributed to non-professionals offering education programs or the lack of active goal setting by participants. The study also introduced vegetable gardening as a solution to financial barriers to a healthy diet. Vegetable gardening may not have been acceptable to the study population, perhaps as a result of its time consuming nature or the cultural perception of gardening.

In another South African study, however, education intervention through group sessions brought increased motivation for improved self-care behaviours in patients¹²⁶. A dietician, a physician and a health promoter, provided the intervention, resulting in increased adherence to physical activity and dietary advice post-intervention. Positive results in this intervention may indicate that education is more accepted when provided by professionals. However, participants also complained of lack of confidentiality in group discussions¹²⁶.

One education study produced improvement in all parameters and was conducted in recently diagnosed overweight or obese T2DM patients in Mongolia¹²⁵. Mean HbA1c levels decreased from 8.5 to 6.0% and total cholesterol also reduced from 3.92mmol/l to 3.13mmol/l. These positive outcomes were attributed to the recent diagnosis of patients, which helped for compliance to recommendations. The recommendations were also described as simple, easy to perform and cost-effective, and may have been easier for participants to follow. The culturally specific recommendation, which suggested that participants should eat earlier in the day and shift heavier meals to either breakfast or lunch, was also a possible factor in achieving positive outcomes¹²⁵.

Two studies, both in India, also provided pharmacist-led counselling on diabetes itself, diet, exercise and other lifestyle changes to patients^{127, 128}. At the end of the intervention in one study, mean blood glucose levels significantly decreased from 198.31mg/dl in the intervention group to 142mg/dl by the second visit after baseline¹²⁷. QoL scores also improved significantly in the intervention group, but no significant changes were observed in the control group¹²⁷. Positive results may be attributed to the effectiveness of patient counselling in behavioural change and the strategic positioning of pharmacists in the health care chain to provide quality education for informed decision-making.

In the other study, post-prandial blood glucose levels reduced significantly in the test group from 237.0mg/dl at baseline to 204.47mg/dl postintervention and high-density lipoprotein (HDL) also increased significantly from 34.9 mg/dl at first visit to 36.6mg/dl at the final visit¹²⁸. No significant changes were observed in the control group. Authors of this study explained that patients were anxious for information on healthy lifestyles and this, coupled with pharmacist-led counselling, may have improved health outcomes. This may be because in developing countries, most individuals visit pharmacists for health care due to costs of consultation in health facilities³²

Efficacy of education of patients by non-physician health workers was demonstrated in a systematic review on interventions for management of diabetes in LMIC⁹³. The SR suggested that these interventions might be a cheaper way to make education of patients more accessible⁹³. However, this review provides recommendations for the context of a high-income country (USA), and did not factor in the low health worker: population ratios

pertinent in developing countries¹²⁹. Presence of a health workforce may influence effectiveness, or otherwise, of these interventions.

Motivation of patients may increase adherence to treatment and lifestyle changes¹³⁰. Two studies aimed to motivate patients to improve health outcomes, one through motivational interviewing and the other through short message services (SMS)^{131, 132}.

In a study in Sri Lanka, nurses were trained to educate participants in the intervention group using motivational interviewing¹³¹. Nurses conducted sessions and follow up visits, taught participants to set goals and helped them develop action plans that were culturally appropriate¹³¹. Twenty eight percent of participants in the intervention group achieved HbA1c target as against 8% in the control group. This study was carried out in a context where emphasis on lifestyle changes is rare in routine clinical care of T2DM patients¹³¹. The new motivational approach may have empowered participants and provided them with self-confidence to manage their condition, contributing to positive outcomes.

In a pilot study in India, short message service (SMS) was used as a motivational tool to improve adherence to dietary and physical activity recommendations¹³². But at the end of the intervention, there were no statistically significant differences between the control and intervention group for dietary and physical activity adherence. Nonetheless, frequent contact with a health worker through SMS was acceptable to patients. In this setting, routine clinical care involved constant self-management education of T2DM patients at the recruitment site¹³². Thus, both control and intervention groups may have been well motivated through education sessions to follow dietary and physical activity advice, explaining the findings. There may not always be a clear distinction between education and motivation, but one may provide the other, relative to how the intervention is carried out.

Three studies also aimed to motivate and prepare patients with tools, which may enhance adherence to exercise recommendations ^{98, 133, 134}. Pedometers are instruments used to objectively monitor number of steps taken by the user. They provide a form of target setting for patients, which may motivate for increased physical activity¹³⁵.

In one study, walking with a pedometer and a heart rate monitor (HRM) was compared to walking alone, in terms of effect on quality of life (QoL)

¹³³. Post intervention, there was no significant difference between the control and intervention group, may be because both groups had improved quality of life from walking, as increased physical activity is known to improve QoL ¹³⁶.

In a second study, clinical parameters and general wellbeing between the intervention group (walking with pedometer and HRM) and the control group (no exercise intervention) were compared. The intervention group had a significant post-intervention reduction in HbA1c (from 7.25% to 6.5%), compared to the control group⁹⁸. The synergistic effects of physical activity and use of a motivational tool may explain the positive outcomes. General well-being scores also increased significantly by 28.8% in the intervention group but decreased in the control group by 12.1%⁹⁸. There was no blinding in this intervention study. Control group participants may have been aware of extra care being given to peers in the intervention group, and this may have negatively affected their wellbeing.

A third study provided pedometers for two exercise intervention groups, one supervised (group A) and one home-based (group B) ¹³⁴. Post-intervention, mean overall wellbeing had significantly increased by 43% for group A and 19.2% for group B. This improvement was significant when both groups were compared individually with the control, but there was no significant difference between groups A and B. Pedometers may provide an exciting option for effective target setting in exercise, and could be acceptable to patients. Group B members were instructed to contact researchers whenever necessary, and this may have provided a form of supervised atmosphere, which may have provided motivation and thus influenced the non-significant findings between groups A and B.

Education interventions appear to produce positive outcomes when they are provided by professionals and are culturally appropriate and specific to the local situation. Lack of professional educators and focused targets for participants may be barriers to positive outcomes. Motivation, through counselling and provision of tools to assist adherence to recommendations may also contribute to positive outcomes.

3.2.2. Health care team

The framework suggests use of expertise of different cadres of health workers caring for people with chronic conditions to provide an avenue that helps patients to achieve healthy lifestyle skills⁹¹.

Two studies described training of health workers to prepare them for counselling of T2DM patients on healthy lifestyle, including healthy diets and increased physical activity^{131, 137}.

In the Sri-Lankan study (described above under 3.2.1¹³¹), clinical psychologists prepared project nurses who carried out the intervention by training these nurses in motivational interviewing for goal setting and problem solving¹³¹. This training and use of an existing cadre in counselling was acceptable to health workers and may have contributed to the positive results in participants¹³¹.

However, the other study, which trained and employed 'less qualified midlevel health workers' in an RCT for management of T2DM patients had different results¹³⁷. After 12 months of group sessions for participants, there were no significant differences between the intervention and control group in the reduction of HbA1c, attaining 5% reduction in weight, or quality of life. The authors believe poor outcomes were due to lack of favourable environment for sessions and ineffective delivery of educational sessions by trained health workers. Retention rate of the study was low (55%) and may indicate that participants were unwilling to visit the facility when they were not sick. Low retention may have influenced health outcomes, as patients are more likely to participate in health promotion activities and follow recommendations, when they perceive them to be beneficial¹³⁸.

These findings suggest that interventions where qualified health workers are trained to educate patients may contribute to better health outcomes, while lack of an enabling environment and low participation of patients act as barriers to positive health outcomes.

3.2.3 Community partners

When selected community members are empowered and educated on the management of patients with T2DM, with regards to healthy lifestyle i.e., diet and physical activity, they may contribute significantly to positive health outcomes⁹¹.

Three articles were found where community partners were trained to help in the management of T2DM patients, using physical activity and diet^{102, 103, 139.}

One study investigated the effectiveness of recruited community health workers (CHW) in prevention and management of diabetes in a rural Indian community¹⁰². For management of people with diabetes, the study analysed

effectiveness of the program in improving healthy lifestyle and achieving glycaemic control. There was integration of community members, researchers and other groups in the design and implementation of the program. Community elders helped in the selection of CHW, who were then trained by a panel of experts, including an endocrinologist and a dietician. A combination of one-on-one and group sessions were held in the local language for all 1681 community members (with or without T2DM). General advice was given on healthy diet and increased physical activity, and a diabetes educator further advised T2DM patients on blood glucose control. Post-intervention, mean systolic blood pressure values decreased by 6.21mmHg and blood glucose levels reduced significantly by 19.08mg/dl in participants with T2DM. There was also a significant increase in physical activity and in vegetable intake (increase by 0.19 servings per day) for participants with T2DM¹⁰². This study was deemed a success and the inclusion of community elders and clinical specialists in the training were said to have contributed to positive outcomes. The intervention employed a blanket approach in education, which targeted the whole community. A blanket approach may have provided social support for people with T2DM, including assistance in cooking healthy meals, increasing and maintaining physical activity and decreased stigma.

In another Indian study, community-recruited peer mentors were used to provide a peer support intervention to 32 women in a rural community¹³⁹. A physician, a psychologist and a nutrition specialist trained peer mentors on self-management of diabetes, physical activity and dietary advice. After the intervention, there were no significant changes between the support group and the control group. The study was conducted among peri-menopausal women, who often play the role of caregivers in the Indian rural setting¹³⁹. Thus, adherence may have been difficult for participants, although most participants reported usefulness of the program. Community elders were also not included in planning the intervention, and context-specific contributions may have been missed.

In one article, self-management for diabetes through peer support programs in three SSA countries was explored¹⁰³.

In Cameroun, peer supporters were trained for monthly meetings with participants (n=100) using culturally existing tribal, religious or occupational links. At the end of 6 months there was a 96% retention rate of participants and acceptability of the program was high¹⁰³. Mean HbA1c

significantly declined from 9.6% to 6.7% and blood pressure and BMI also decreased significantly¹⁰³. Monthly meetings were conveniently scheduled and included sessions on healthy diets, as well as cooking practices, and exercise. Peer supporters also visited participants individually to discuss personal issues and provided a link to clinical care of participants. These, together with the considerations for the sociocultural hierarchical system, may have influenced the positive outcomes.

A similar program in Uganda utilized diabetes 'champions' to provide support to participants (n=26). Here, support was provided through mobile phones as well as one-on-one sessions¹⁰³. Topics discussed were similar to the Cameroun program, but additionally a handbook was designed for training of both 'champions' and participants. Also, the mobile networks connected not only 'champions' to participants, but also these two to nurses in health care services. At the end, mean diastolic pressure dropped from 85.39 to 76.27mmHg and mean HbA1c declined from 11.1 to 8.3%. Participants also reported an overall improvement in dietary behaviour. Matching of 'champions' to one or two patients provided a more individualized support system, and may also have helped patients adhere better to recommendations.

In South Africa, the peer support project was implemented for women in a local town¹⁰³. Here, women with diabetes in the township were brought together for discussions on exercise, diet and stress management. They were then paired up as 'diabetes buddies' to provide encouragement through visits, phone calls and text messages. Though no clinical or behavioural changes were reported, the program was noted to be successful in terms of its acceptability and engagement of participants, who texted 'buddies' an average of 5 times a week¹⁰³.

In all three peer support programs, T2DM patients were constantly advised on the importance of clinical care and pharmacological treatment. Pharmacological advice may have improved adherence to medications, which could have also contributed to positive clinical outcomes.

The findings show that there is general acceptance of community partners for encouraging physical activity and diet in people with T2DM. Counselling from trained community health workers and interactions with peers seem to result in better health outcomes.

3.2 Meso level

3.2.1 Health Care Organization

From the ICCC framework, the building blocks for health care organization for chronic conditions are to:

3.2.1a Promote continuity and coordination

Continuous and coordinated services, where medication, diet, physical activity and foot and eye care are harmoniously managed in patients with T2DM contribute to good health outcomes⁷¹. It is recommended for coordination to exist among the different levels of the health system, i.e., primary, secondary and/or tertiary, as well as among different health care providers, such as dieticians, physicians and pharmacists⁹¹.

Unfortunately, no interventions were found where continuity and coordination were promoted in health care organization with regards to physical activity and diet for T2DM patients.

3.2.1b Encourage quality care through leadership and incentives

In relation to management of patients with T2DM, senior officials in health care may improve health outcomes by providing an enabling environment for quality care in the health system⁹¹.

One article reviewed how the National Diabetes Research Centre (NDRC) in Ghana initiated a program to promote quality care of T2DM patients in the country⁹⁵. The NDRC, together with local and international support, spearheaded the Ghana Diabetes Education Program in 1995¹⁴⁰. Under this intervention, two diabetes care teams each consisting of a doctor, a nurse and a dietician, were trained to train other health workers. They also developed guidelines for institutional training of health workers and for management of diabetes. Also, they developed materials for patient education. The diabetes care teams then trained regional teams, who further trained district teams in management of diabetes. The program also provided supplies for establishment of diabetes clinics in some regional health facilities⁹⁵. Subsequently, no articles have been published on the sustained effects of this intervention. The top-down approach employed to provide the intervention may not have been acceptable to health care teams at the periphery, and may have influenced adoption of this program. The socioeconomic contexts may also not have been factored in and may have affected long-term sustainability of the program.

3.2.1c Organize and equip health care teams

Equipping health care workers with the right tools, education and guidelines for management of chronic conditions may facilitate quality health care services⁹¹.

In one study, non-physician clinical staff in selected government facilities were trained and provided with basic equipment, so as to include management of hypertension and diabetes at the primary care level in Cameroon⁹⁶. Most parameters showed no significant change, although reduction in fasting blood glucose (FBG) was significant (-7.8mmol/L) and there was also an association of more decrease in FBG of patients with higher number of visits. Non-significant outcomes may have been a result of high attrition rates of patients (70.6%), which affected the quality of the study. Outcomes may also be due to loss of trained staff to reassignments and relocation, resulting in non-operational services in some facilities⁹⁶.

Studies described under '3.2.2 Health Care Team' also aimed to equip health care workers by training them on education of patients^{124, 131}, with varying outcomes.

Clinical guidelines found in country policy documents emphasize lifestyle changes in management of T2DM patients where possible¹⁰⁵⁻¹¹³.

The Standard Treatment Guidelines (STGs) for Ghana recommend increased physical activity, tailored to a patient's requirement and ability. It also recommends elimination of refined sugars from a diabetic diet and of complex consumption carbohydrates, fruits and encourages vegetables¹⁰⁵. Aside a reference to 'soft drinks' and added sugar to beverages, the guidelines are not explicit on foods, such as locally produced sweets and snacks, which may also be sources of refined sugars. This may result in difficulties in translation of recommendations to practice. The guidelines also recommend referral of all people with diabetes to a dietician. This may be a challenge as 80% of all registered dieticians are located in the capital city Accra¹⁴¹. Ghana also has Dietary and Physical Activity Guidelines, which provide recommendations for both adults and children¹⁰⁶. But enquiry from one registered dietician revealed that these guidelines are not readily available in health facilities¹⁴².

Sri Lanka has specific guidelines for management of NCDs. Dietary and physical activity recommendations are similar to those for Ghana, and the

guidelines further refer to the 'Food Based Dietary Guidelines for Sri Lankans' for context-specific recommendations¹¹².

The South African and Nigerian guidelines go further to stress training of members of the diabetes care team to educate patients on lifestyle modification and self-management¹⁰⁷⁻¹⁰⁹. They also stress that education should be locally applicable, equitable and accessible and encourage education of families and communities. Nigeria also has specific nutritional guidelines for NCDs, including T2DM¹¹⁰. Treatment guidelines for South Africa advocate a patient-centred approach, and provide specific recommendations with respect to how, when and how much carbohydrates, proteins, fats, fruits and vegetables are to be consumed in a T2DM patient^{107, 108}. Specific guidelines for management of diabetes in South Africa are provided by a document from the Society for Endocrinology, Metabolism and Diabetes of South Africa (SEMDSA) ¹⁰⁸. Supplementary information from specialists in the field may explain how explicit South African guidelines are on context-specific and cultural recommendations.

3.2.1d Support patients in self-management and prevention

The health system can guide patients to increase physical activity and improve diets, when they provide support mechanisms⁹¹, such as supervision, regular counselling, and recreational areas for patients.

Ten studies used supervised exercises as interventions for T2DM patients^{98-101, 133, 143-147}. Two have been discussed under 3.1.1 Patients and families^{98, 133}. Two studies had significant outcomes but sample size was too small ($n \le 10$ for intervention group) for these studies to be representative^{100, 143}.

But one study with a similar sample size was conducted in Ghana and is subsequently described, as it is relevant to the objectives of this thesis. In this study, physiotherapists carried out supervised exercise sessions for T2DM patients in a tertiary facility in Ghana¹⁴⁶. Post-intervention, there were no significant differences in physiological parameters or in quality of life between the intervention group and the control group. Non-significant results may be because of the study design, i.e., small sample size (intervention n=9) and short duration of intervention (8 weeks). Secondly, both groups were being managed routinely at the diabetic clinic at Korle Bu Teaching Hospital (KBTH), where education and self-management sessions were given. Thirdly, other factors, such as socioeconomic influences and social support, may have effects on the QoL of an individual with T2DM and these may not have been factored into the prescribed intervention. In another RCT, three groups were compared (n=279) in India: one group underwent structured exercises in a supervised setting, the second group was advised to increase physical activity and the third was given no intervention¹⁴⁷. At the end of the intervention, there was significant decrease in HbA1c in the structured exercise group as compared to the control (by 0.69%). Participants of this study were sedentary adults, majority of who were overweight or obese (92%). A structured, supervised environment may have been better at improving adherence to exercise recommendations, compared to advice alone or no intervention. The study interventions provided no significant changes in BMI or lipid levels for all groups¹⁴⁷. This may be because a dietician prescribed diabetic meals for all participants, which may have standardized weight management in the study.

In another supervised exercise study, men with T2DM in Mozambique were taken through a structured exercise intervention¹⁴⁴. After the intervention, mean systolic and diastolic blood pressures were significantly lower in the intervention group compared to the control group (SBP and DBP reduced from 131 to 129mmHg and 80 to 77mmHg respectively in intervention group). Other measured parameters showed no significant difference between groups, which could be because all study participants were already physically active prior to the study. Participants walked for at least an hour a day as a means of transport, and this may have influenced the results. It may also be inferred that additional exercise in an already active individual with T2DM may help reduce blood pressure and contribute to reduced cardiovascular risk.

The physiological effects of exercise interventions, i.e., aerobic exercise and resistance training, were factors that influenced positive health outcomes in patients undergoing supervised exercise regimes in three other studies in Nigeria and India^{99, 101, 145}. These interventions may have been successful due to the supervised environment, within which they were carried out. A systematic review also showed effectiveness of exercise interventions in other low and middle-income countries⁹³. However, all these exercise interventions in the health facility may not be accessible on a regular basis for all T2DM patients, and may be sources of indirect expenditures, such as transport costs.

Two studies were identified where the health system supported dietary therapy for management of T2DM patients^{97, 148}.

Abubakari et al assessed the effects of an alternative vegetarian diet on T2DM patients in Ghana¹⁴⁸. Post-intervention, there was significant decrease in mean blood glucose level by 47% and increase in mean HDL by 25%. However, small sample size (n=23), short study duration (21 days) and lack of a control group influence the quality of the study and findings may not be generalizable.

Researchers in the other study also provided low glycaemic index (GI) and medium glycaemic load (GL) foods to Indian patients with T2DM⁹⁷. Post intervention, HbA1c levels decreased significantly from 8% to 7.1%. Positive outcomes may have been due to the culturally acceptable nature of meals in the Indian context, which made meals easier to prepare by family members⁹⁷. But sample size was too small to be representative (n=15).

3.2.1e Use information systems

Information on dietary pattern and physical activity of a population can provide the health system with areas, which require more focus for health promotion⁹¹. Keeping track of patients, their condition and their health behaviours also informs decisions concerning their long-term management⁹¹.

No interventions were found where use of information systems improved dietary and physical activity in T2DM patients.

The findings suggest that there are limited interventions for promoting continuity and coordination and use of information systems. Clinical guidelines recommend physical activity and diet, but support from other associations may help develop culturally appropriate and context-specific guidelines. Physically active patients and supervised environments appear to provide positive outcomes in patients. But exercise interventions are usually carried out for a short period of time, and long-term health and socio-economic effects of interventions are not explored in these studies.

3.2.2 Community

Community contribution in managing patients with T2DM, where physical activity and diet are concerned, may produce positive outcomes for these patients⁹¹. Building blocks for this include:

3.2.2a Raise awareness and reduce stigma

For the community to be able to contribute to management of patients with T2DM, they need to be aware themselves of what T2DM is and the role of physical activity and diet in its prevention and management.

The search results produced one community-based study which targeted awareness creation in the entire community as described above under '3.2.3 Community Partners'¹⁰². The whole community was educated by CHW on lifestyle changes for primary and secondary prevention of T2DM and its complications. Raised awareness may have provided an enabling environment to assist behaviour change in T2DM patients¹⁰².

3.2.2b Better outcomes through leadership and support

Political structures in the community can provide clear leaders who can take on duties for management of patients with T2DM⁹¹. Religious leaders, community and family heads are examples of leaders who can take up this role.

Community leaders in one study (presented above under '3.2.3 Community Partners') ¹⁰² were described as instrumental in selection of candidates for training as diabetes educators, and this may have contributed to the success of the intervention.

3.2.2c Mobilize and coordinate resources

Generating funds and other local resources in the community can provide a means for promoting increased physical activity and healthy diets. The community can be a source of invaluable resources for effective interventions⁹¹.

Again, the only study identified where human resources were mobilized in the community to increase physical activity and improve diet in T2DM patients was the community-based intervention in a rural Indian community (presented above under `3.2.3 Community Partners')¹⁰².

3.2.2d Provision of complementary services

Where gaps are identified in the health system with regards to management of T2DM patients, community partners may step in to fill these gaps⁹¹.

Informal or evidence-based alternative services can also be employed to complement health care services for best outcomes⁹¹.

Three studies in India investigated the use of yoga to supplement clinical services^{139, 149, 150}.

All three studies made mention of the perceived benefits of yoga as both an exercise and a relaxing technique for T2DM patients.

Two studies focused on menopausal women with T2DM and had conflicting results^{139, 149}. In one, yoga contributed to significant decrease in mean FBG and PPBG (20.62% and 14.52% respectively)¹⁴⁹, whereas in the other, the influence of yoga on glycaemic outcomes was neutral¹³⁹. Nonetheless, these results are not generalizable to all individuals with T2DM.

The third study was carried out in a more heterogeneous study population of a larger sample size, and investigated effects of yoga on lipid levels in T2DM patients¹⁵⁰. After the three-month intervention, reduction in mean values of weight (62.20kg to 59.60kg), triglycerides (151.88mg/dl to 130.11mg/dl) and low-density lipoproteins (LDL) (144.74mg/dl to 120.51mg/dl) were significant. Yoga as an intervention may provide physical activity and stress management components, both of which contribute to positive health outcomes in T2DM patients¹⁵⁰. It may have worked in this setting also because yoga is a common, culturally accepted practice and thus patients may adhere to it.

Participation of the entire community in management of T2DM patients appears to have positive results. Studies on yoga appear inconclusive, but may have positive outcomes as well. However, research in this area is thin and makes it difficult to objectively assess effectiveness of different interventions in different contexts.

3.3 Macro level (Positive Policy Environment)

3.3.1 Provide leadership and advocacy

National leaders and policy makers can be encouraged to make adoption of healthy diets and increased physical activity a priority in a country. This helps for policies, strategies and plans to incorporate these lifestyle changes⁹¹.

All countries searched had either an NCD policy or a strategic plan to address NCDs, and each refers to the role of physical activity and diet. Each policy or strategic plan also referred to the need to advocate for prioritization of NCDs on the national agenda^{94, 114-121}. Increased local and global interest in NCDs may have helped to advocate for policies on NCD prevention and control¹⁵.

3.3.2 Integrate policies

Policies for chronic diseases are described as more effective where disease prevention and management strategies are integrated across sectors and where health promotion is emphasized for the whole population⁹¹.

In Ghana, the NCD policy, which was revised in 2012, has awareness creation for healthy diet and lifestyle as a priority area¹¹⁴. The policy recommends dissemination of population-level guidelines on healthy diets and inclusion of healthy-living contents in the curricula of tertiary institutions. There is further recommendation on liaison with the food industry to make healthy options for food more affordable. The strategic plan for NCD prevention and control also mentioned key activities, which focuses on physical activity and diet for the population¹¹⁶. These include sustainable education programs, updated national dietary guidelines, salt reduction program, reduction in prices of healthy foods and compilation of list of common local foods and their salt content¹¹⁶. However, no plans to encourage the creation of exercise friendly environments in the community or in workplaces were identified.

No programs or interventions were found which addressed affordable healthy meal options, salt reduction or provision of updated population level dietary and physical activity guidelines.

Annual reports and the Programs of Work of the Ministry of Health and its agencies from 2012 to 2015 did not provide evidence on implementation of policy recommendations on physical activity and dietary lifestyles of adults in Ghana¹⁵¹⁻¹⁵⁶. But in 2016, a pilot program was started- the Base of Pyramid Project-which is intended to raise awareness in the community on diabetes, train health workers in diabetes care as well as to assist patients in self-management¹⁵⁷.

The South African Strategic Plan for NCD prevention and control lists interventions that target physical activity and diet as cost-effective ways of preventing and controlling NCDs¹¹⁸. Recommended awareness creation campaigns on physical activity and diet were carried out^{158, 159} as reported in the annual report for 2015/2016 and some selected institutions were also educated on healthy meals at work¹⁶⁰. However, legislation for salt could not be enforced due to procurement problems¹⁶⁰. Suggested liaisons with other ministries, such as Ministry of Industry were also not realized¹⁶¹.

The Nigerian Strategic action plan for NCDs stresses education of the general public and health workers on the role of exercise and diet in the prevention and control of NCDs, within specified time frames¹¹⁷. The National NCD Policy also called for enforcement of legislations, which govern the food industry and for increased places for physical activity at workplaces, in the community etc.¹¹⁵. No programs or interventions were found where policy recommendations had been implemented in Nigeria.

Although policy documents could not be assessed due to language, a systematic review described the policy environment in Mongolia⁹⁴. In the Mongolia NCD programme, there were outlined action plans and responsibilities for different inter-sector stakeholders. Plans included improvements in urban planning and increasing avenues for exercising.

In Sri-Lanka, the strategic plan adopts a multi-sectorial approach, where the health ministry takes up the role of leadership to emphasize the need for health promotion and risk reduction of NCDs in the country¹²⁰. The strategic plan outlines activities for reducing unhealthy diets and physical activity. As the plan was for 2016-2020, no reports to assess implementation of recommendations were identified.

India has comprehensive operational guidelines for the programme on prevention and control of NCDs¹²¹. This guideline outlines health promotion activities at different levels of the health system, and encourages inter-level collaboration for better health outcomes. However, a review of the NCD response in India indicated that the country may have good policies, but implementation of these policies needed to be improved¹⁶².

3.3.3 Promote Consistent financing

In care for chronic conditions, low cost interventions have been proven to work where resources are scarce⁹¹. Financial resources need to be allocated to strategies and plans to contribute to sustainable and effective implementation.

The Ghana NCD strategic plan makes reference to allocating earmarked funds to the NCD prevention and control strategies¹¹⁶. Suggested sources of funds included diaspora bonds and taxation of unhealthy foods. But no explicit costing or budgetary allocations were indicated.

For South Africa, no budgetary allocations were made either, but costeffectiveness of the different suggested strategies for NCD prevention and control were outlined¹¹⁸. These strategies may provide a guide to which programs can be taken up where resources are limited.

India outlines financial guidelines in the NCD programme operational guidelines for state governments¹²¹. Financial guidelines provide an itemized costing of NCD units depending on the level of health care. It further separates expenditure into recurring and non-recurring costs. Such guidelines provide a yardstick by which government officials at different levels can manage resources efficiently.

Sri Lanka also has a five-year costing schedule for all components of the strategic plan for NCD control¹²⁰. Funds are to be provided by international organizations, including a loan from the World Bank. These funds may provide assistance to NCD programs, but conditionality of loans may influence decision space of policy makers and implementers¹⁶³.

3.3.4 Develop and allocate human resources

Health care professionals in training need to be given requisite skills necessary for management of T2DM patients, where adequate lifestyle changes are concerned. This would require school curricula to be adjusted to meet the current demands of the burden of disease, including chronic diseases and T2DM⁹¹.

Curricula for health professionals from Ghana and other countries were unavailable during the search. But one curriculum found for physician assistants trained in the College of Health, Yamfo in Ghana had no outlined lectures or sessions for training on healthy diets and increased physical activity¹⁶⁴. Though there was a session on nutrition, the focus was more on nutrition in children.

A pilot program carried out in six hospitals in Ghana introduced the Buddy Doctor Initiative (BDI) ¹⁵⁷. Through MoH-Novo Nordisk Pharma collaboration, specialist physicians are paired with general practitioners to guide the latter in improving health outcomes in diabetes care. This program may help develop human resource in Ghana, but may leave out non-physician health workers who form the majority of the health workforce in Ghana²³.

Post-graduate training can also be used as an avenue to enforce evidence based treatment guidelines, strategies and plans for governments⁹¹. Continuous Professional Development (CPD) policies in Ghana require health professionals to attain a minimum number of mandatory points from CPD sessions to qualify for annual registration in the various governing councils for health workers¹⁶⁵⁻¹⁶⁷. Though commendable, the recommended topics for CPD sessions did not include strategies to aid in lifestyle and behavioural change for patients with T2DM or other chronic diseases. A list of accredited CPD programs, however, included sessions for guidelines in the management of patients with diabetes¹⁶⁸. Diabetes management sessions may incorporate diet and physical activity guidelines, but this was not explicitly stated.

Different or new cadres can also be introduced specifically to provide counselling, education, peer support or treatment services for patients with chronic conditions⁹¹. With assistance from WHO, a pilot of the Package of Essential NCD (PEN) Interventions for Primary Health Care in low resource settings program was implemented in Ghana in 2009¹⁶⁹. Twenty health workers of different cadres in primary level facilities were trained in integrated management of Diabetes and Hypertension¹⁷⁰. This training may help improve care of people with T2DM at the community. This intervention may also contribute to maintaining the gatekeeper system in healthcare. Policy level programs for developing and allocating human resources in the other countries were not identified during the search.

3.3.5 Support legislative frameworks

Legislative frameworks that regulate the type of food readily available on the market and also establish exercise-friendly community and working environments provide an enabling environment for good health outcomes⁹¹. The NCD policy in Ghana emphasizes healthy diet through making healthier options for food cheaper, and by regulating processed foods available on the market¹¹⁴. No documents on food regulation and were found. However, a sugar policy process document from the MoTI, which aimed to increase refined sugar production in the country, did not factor in the MoH as a relevant stakeholder for consultation¹⁷¹. This may indicate a lack of partnership between different government sectors and may influence success of national health strategies. Another factor could be conflicting interests between the MoH and MoTI. The only legislative document found to aid in healthy diet and increased physical activity was the salt regulation act from South Africa¹⁰⁴. This regulation ensures that foods available on the market have a reduced salt content to meet the daily recommended >5g consumption requirement. But reports indicate that these regulations may be hard to enforce^{160, 161}.

3.3.6 Strengthen partnerships

When policies are integrated across sectors, strengthened partnerships among different sectors of government to develop strategies, plans and interventions may help promote good health outcomes⁹¹.

No interventions or policies with inter-sectorial partnerships were found in Ghana, even though policies and strategies found mentioned the importance of such partnerships. A recent news release, however, revealed that the MoYS was to begin yoga sessions in schools¹⁷². This may be an indication of interest of the MoYS in improving healthy lifestyles for young adults.

Sri Lanka, through its multi-sectorial approach, formed an NCD unit within the MoH¹²⁰. The NCD unit has representatives from all government sectors including Finance and Education. Within this unit, the Ministries of Trade, Consumer Affairs and Agriculture together with MoH are mandated to develop regulations to make healthier foods more assessable while the Ministries of Local Government and Sports also share responsibility for increased physical activity in the public¹²⁰. Such partnerships may provide an enabling environment for improved access to healthy foods and increased physical activity. The action plan is from 2016 to 2020; as such reports on implementation were not available.

Prevention and Control of NCDs appears to be a priority in all countries searched. Strategies and plans often include recommendations for increased physical activity and improved diet but implementation of strategies appears limited or may be unreported. Budgetary allocation, human resource development and inter-sectorial partnerships for increased physical activity and dietary education also do not feature prominently in policies and strategic plans.

Chapter 4: Discussion

Discussion

This chapter discusses how interventions and policies presented in the preceding chapter relate to the Ghanaian context.

4.1 Micro-level

At the level of patient-interaction, education and counselling of patients, use of motivation and training of health workers and community members appear to be positive for better outcomes.

Different health workers can assist patients in improving diets and increasing physical activity, if they are trained in effective patient education. Pharmacist-led counselling helped improve health by providing education in diet and physical activity for patients in India^{127, 128}. This intervention may be practical in Ghana, where people usually stop by the pharmacist when unwell and only proceed to the health facility when symptoms persist.

Nurses in India also helped T2DM patients through motivational interviewing¹³¹. Health workers at the primary level in Ghana may be willing to provide education sessions, but are usually under-resourced and burdened with acute conditions, making it difficult for effective interactions with patients. Interventions, which utilize community partners, may help to reduce health worker workload, by shifting tasks to community members.

Community health workers, chosen from and by the community in India helped to educate the public, and improve health outcomes in people with T2DM¹⁰². In Ghana, community health workers have helped in health promotion and vaccination in maternal and child care through the CHPS compounds and health centres. If trained to do so, CHW may present an avenue for health education for people with T2DM.

Most interventions worked when culturally appropriate recommendations were made. In Mongolia, the culture of late eating was targeted and addressed in a culturally sensitive manner, producing positive outcomes¹²⁵. Education of the community on healthy eating and exercising in India, using culturally appropriate recommendations also produced good outcomes¹⁰². Ghanaians eat together during daily meals and at community gatherings. Individuals with T2DM may have difficulty requesting for or preparing specific meals, and may also be against the idea of eating separate meals for fear of stigmatization. When cultural practices are considered in

interventions, it may make it easier for Ghanaians with T2DM to get access to healthy foods.

Gender role of women may have influenced effectiveness of interventions in Indonesia and India^{123, 139}. This role of culture may need to be considered in the Ghanaian context also, as Ghanaian women similarly play caregiver roles.

Use of technology, such as pedometers and SMS, helped patients to monitor and adhere to recommended daily physical activity in India¹³²⁻¹³⁴. Sustainability and affordability of tools such as pedometers may affect applicability on a large scale in Ghana. SMS interventions may be implemented in Ghana, but low literacy of older Ghanaians may influence effective interventions in the elderly.

Vegetable gardening may not have been acceptable in South Africa and may have contributed to poor outcomes¹²⁴, but in Ghana, farming practices are common, especially in rural areas. Thus, gardening may be an acceptable introduction to people with T2DM.

4.2 Meso Level

4.2.1 Health Care Organization

In health care organization, leadership, support of patient self-management and equipping health workers appear to have positive influence on health outcomes.

Leadership from the NDRC in Ghana resulted in improved management of people with T2DM⁹⁵. Training of health workers and formulation of guidelines may have helped improve health care for diabetes in the country, but the program left out health workers in sub-districts, municipalities and towns, where most of the primary care facilities are located.

Guidelines for management of T2DM assist health workers to make informed decisions concerning patient care. In Ghana, guidelines call for referral of patients to dieticians, even though dieticians are few. Guidelines, which include culturally specific dietary advice, as was in South Africa and Nigeria¹⁰⁷⁻¹⁰⁹, may provide health workers with the requisite knowledge, and reduce the need for referral.

Supervised exercises appear to be effective interventions in most contexts, but not in Ghana¹⁴⁶. Supervised interventions are carried out in the heath

facility for a short duration, and may not be sustainable or applicable on a long-term basis. Patients usually go for monthly reviews at facilities, and may be reluctant to visit daily for exercise interventions. Exercise interventions in health facilities may also have the unintended effect of indirect costs to patients.

Nonetheless, groups of Ghanaians have embraced exercising through clubs and these groups provide motivation through peer influence, which may promote healthier lifestyles. In South Africa, Uganda and Cameroun, peer groups provided support for individuals with T2DM to learn to adopt increased physical activity¹⁰³. Combining physical activity with motivation may provide good outcomes, as seen in India^{98, 134}. Thus, supervised exercises (meso level interventions) may be shifted to community peers (micro level interventions) within groups of people with diabetes in Ghana, for better health outcomes. Peer groups can further provide assistance in other self-management practices such as setting goals and targets and cooking healthier meals.

Interventions, which train health workers for short time such as was done in Cameroon, may lose skilled personnel, and the success of the interventions may be affected⁹⁶. In Ghana, health workers may refuse postings to resource-deprived settings, such as rural areas. Career advancement, private practice or job dissatisfaction are some factors which may cause the few who take up posts in deprived settings to vacate positions.

4.2.2 Community

Engaging community leaders contributed to significant positive outcomes in India. In Ghana, religious and community leaders play a pivotal role in cultural influence. These leaders may choose willing educators to champion healthy lifestyle in the community and in patients, or may be themselves champions.

Complementary services may augment health care services in Ghana, as yoga appeared to do in India^{149, 150}. Yoga is not currently a culturally accepted exercise regime in most parts of Ghana, even though the MoYS may introduce yoga to schools¹⁷². Cultural dances during social gatherings were common in the past, but have reduced in modern times. These dances

are an example of a more acceptable activity to increase exercise in T2DM patients.

4.3. Macro Level

There are many policies, strategies and plans for NCD prevention and control, showing their importance in most countries. A few programs implemented in Ghana show there is some interest in diabetes in Ghana, especially with regards to health worker training. WHO PEN interventions, Buddy Doctor initiative, and Base of Pyramid Project are policy responses, which may help prepare health workers for diabetes care. CPD sessions in Ghana provide a channel through which educational material for lifestyle changes in diabetes management can be offered. But generally, there seems to be paucity in implementation of plans and strategies in Ghana, as well as in other countries researched.

Allocation of financial resources contributes to implementation of successful interventions and strategies. Ghana's NCD strategic plan lacks explicit costing for implementation of activities. Financial guidelines, as provided by India, may provide assistance to local governments on effective use of resources¹²¹. As Sri Lanka did, a clear breakdown of budget requirements may also help to procure international assistance for implementation of activities for NCD prevention and control¹²⁰. Where conditionality of loans presents a challenge, cost-benefit analysis, as in the case of South Africa, may be used for advocacy to increase government allocation for NCD programs¹¹⁸.

Partnerships across government sectors help for increased political will and a widespread approach to influence lifestyle changes. Sri Lanka opts for a plan where inter-sectorial roles are outlined, with targets and timelines¹²⁰. In Ghana, partnerships could not be found although ministerial appointments are offered in a patronage system to members of the same political party, and thus provides an avenue for partnership.

Legislation may help provide affordable healthy food options on the market, but laws on food regulation were absent in Ghana. However, as observed from South Africa, the availability of a salt legislation does not always indicate that laws will be enforced¹⁰⁴.

The WHO ICCC framework helped to address patients and families, the community and health system, as well as the policy environment. Links between the components of the framework helped to see how management of a patient with T2DM does not depend on one factor, but on the interaction of multiple factors. The ICCC framework, however, did not indicate the influence of sociocultural and socioeconomic factors. The framework was therefore adapted, and this helped for a holistic analysis of physical activity and dietary interventions and policies in the management of people with T2DM.

The framework provided demarcated levels within the health system i.e., the micro, meso and macro levels. These demarcations helped to breakdown the complexities of the health system into manageable sections for ease of analysis. However, there exists some fluidity within the components of different levels, such as community partners at the micro level and the community at the meso level. Thus, the framework may oversimplify this fluid heath system, and may hinder comprehensive analysis of interventions and policy responses within the health system.

Chapter 5 Conclusion and Recommendations

5.1 Conclusion

been difficult.

There have been some interventions and policies in Ghana, as well as in SSA and lower middle-income countries, which use physical activity and diet, to improve health outcomes in the management of people with T2DM. General interventions that are effective on the micro level include education and motivation of patients by health workers and trained CHW in India, peer support groups in South Africa, Uganda and Cameroun and the use of culturally appropriate education sessions in Mongolia and India. These interventions may be applied to the Ghanaian context due to the role of pharmacists and CHW in the country, as well as the upcoming peer influence in fitness clubs.

Supervised exercises on the meso level may be effective interventions for people with T2DM in many countries, but not in Ghana. Exercise interventions may be shifted to peer and community groups in Ghana for increased social support and reduced costs, which may result in effective implementation.

Context specific and culturally appropriate guidelines in South Africa and Sri Lanka may improve health worker competence in providing dietary and physical activity recommendations. In Ghana, context-specific guidelines may help supplement the inadequate number of dieticians to help improve outcomes in T2DM patients.

Community-based studies also improved health outcomes for people with T2DM when community elders were involved in India. The role of community and religious leaders in Ghana may help provide positive outcomes if they are involved in intervention planning and implementation. Leadership in health care organization in Ghana brought about training of health workers and formulation of guidelines for management of diabetes patients in the country. This notwithstanding, lower level cadres of health

At the macro level, most countries show political advocacy, with policies and strategic plans. Most policies in Ghana and other countries adopt an integrated approach for prevention and control of NCDs. Physical activity

workers were left untrained and sustainability of the intervention may have

and diet also feature prominently in policies and plans for most countries. Implementation reports for plans and strategies were however unavailable in most countries but Ghana appears to have implemented few programs for health worker training and one for public awareness creation.

Cost benefit analysis in South Africa, financial guidelines in India and budget costing in Sri Lanka provide lessons for efficient use of financial resources for policy implementation and for lobbying of funds.

Inter-sectorial partnerships help to determine responsible stakeholders in implementation of policy action plans, as seen in Sri Lanka. Patronage within the ruling political party may provide an avenue to establish such inter-sectorial partnerships for health within the Ghana government.

5.2 Recommendations

Translation of interventions to the Ghanaian context requires a mix of interventions from different levels for implementation on short and long-term basis. At the end of the study, the researcher suggests the following recommendations for interventions, policy and research.

5.2.1 Interventions

- The MoH and MoE should train health workers, including pharmacists and CHW and community volunteers in motivational interviewing and education, using culturally appropriate recommendations and techniques.
- MoH and other stakeholders must employ a community-based approach in interventions, involving community and religious leaders. This provides an enabling environment for people with T2DM to safely follow these lifestyle recommendations. Priority must be given to low socioeconomic and under-resourced settings, such as rural and urban poor areas. Interventions could also be tailor-made for specific groups, such as the elderly and women in the society.
- Health care facilities, diabetes associations, churches and workplaces must establish self-help groups for patients with T2DM. Group members could be targeted for interventions, and encouraged in motivation and social support
- The National Diabetes Research centre, together with the MoH must revise and re-implement the Diabetes Education Program in Ghana, factoring in a focus on primary health care workers and long-term sustainability measures.

5.2.2. Policy

- The MoH should liaise with the MoFA to develop food regulation policies for affordable healthy foods. These policies will only be effective if enforcement measures and sanctions are put in place simultaneously.
- The MoH must revise Standard Treatment Guidelines and Dietary and Physical Activity Guidelines to provide culturally appropriate recommendations for managing people with T2DM with respect to physical activity and dietary practices. Guidelines should also be sufficiently distributed to all health care facilities, especially those that lack dieticians.
- The MoH should revise NCD strategic plans to include measurable activities, specific timeframes for implementation, budgetary allocation and costing, as well as stakeholders responsible for each activity. Accountability mechanisms must also be established to ensure efficient implementation.

5.2.3. Research

- Research institutions must carry out both qualitative and quantitative studies on factors that influence effective interventions in the Ghanaian context.
- Research could also be conducted on continuity and coordination of care in T2DM patients in Ghana, and the use of information systems in the management of T2DM patients.

References

- 1. International Diabetes Federation. IDF Diabetes Atlas 7th edition [Internet]. 2015. Available from: <u>http://www.diabetesatlas.org/resources/2015-atlas.html</u>
- 2. WHO | Healthy diet [Internet]. WHO. [cited 2017 Aug 12]. Available from: http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs394/en/
- 3. WHO | Physical activity [Internet]. WHO. [cited 2017 Aug 12]. Available from: <u>http://www.who.int/topics/physical_activity/en/</u>
- 4. WHO | What is Moderate-intensity and Vigorous-intensity Physical Activity? [Internet]. WHO. [cited 2017 Aug 12]. Available from: <u>http://www.who.int/dietphysicalactivity/physical activity intensity/en/</u>
- WHO | Physical Inactivity: A Global Public Health Problem [Internet]. WHO. [cited 2017 Aug 12]. Available from: <u>http://www.who.int/dietphysicalactivity/factsheet_inactivity/en/</u>
- 6. Glycaemic Control [Internet]. TheFreeDictionary.com. [cited 2017 Aug 12]. Available from: <u>http://medical-dictionary.thefreedictionary.com/glycaemic+control</u>
- 7. The Hemoglobin A1c Test for Diabetes [Internet]. WebMD. [cited 2017 Aug 12]. Available from: <u>http://www.webmd.com/diabetes/guide/glycated-hemoglobin-test-hba1c</u>
- 8. Criteria for Diagnosing Diabetes-Topic Overview [Internet]. WebMD. [cited 2017 Aug 12]. Available from: <u>http://www.webmd.com/diabetes/tc/criteria-for-diagnosing-diabetes-topic-overview</u>
- 9. WHO :: Global Database on Body Mass Index [Internet]. [cited 2017 Aug 12]. Available from: <u>http://apps.who.int/bmi/index.jsp?introPage=intro_3.html</u>
- 10. Know Your Blood Pressure Numbers [Internet]. WebMD. [cited 2017 Aug 12]. Available from: <u>http://www.webmd.com/hypertension-high-blood-</u> <u>pressure/guide/diastolic-and-systolic-blood-pressure-know-your-numbers</u>
- 11. Cholesterol Testing and the Lipid Panel [Internet]. WebMD. [cited 2017 Aug 15]. Available from: <u>http://www.webmd.com/cholesterol-management/guide/tests-for-high-cholesterol-lipid-panel</u>
- 12. WHO | International Classification of Health Interventions (ICHI) [Internet]. WHO. [cited 2017 Aug 15]. Available from: <u>http://www.who.int/classifications/ichi/en/</u>
- 13. Policy Meaning in the Cambridge English Dictionary [Internet]. [cited 2017 Aug 15]. Available from: <u>http://dictionary.cambridge.org/dictionary/english/policy</u>

- 14. Iregbu S, Iregbu F. A review of self-management of diabetes in Africa. Afr J Diabetes Med Vol. 2016;24(2).
- United Nations. Political Declaration of the High-level Meeting of the General Assembly on the Prevention and Control of Non-communicable Diseases [Internet]. [cited 2017 Aug 3]. Available from: <u>http://www.who.int/nmh/events/un_ncd_summit2011/political_declaration_en.pdf</u>
- 16. World Health Organization. Global Action Plan for the prevention and control of Noncommunicable diseases 2013-2020 [Internet]. 2013 [cited 2017 Aug 9]. Available from: <u>http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/94384/1/9789241506236_eng.pdf</u>
- 17. World Health Organization. Global Report on Diabetes [Internet]. 2016 [cited 2017 Aug 9]. Available from: <u>http://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/10665/204871/1/9789241565257 eng.pdf</u>
- World Bank. World Development Indicators | DataBank, Ghana [Internet]. [cited 2017 May 14]. Available from: <u>http://databank.worldbank.org.vu-</u> <u>nl.idm.oclc.org/data/reports.aspx?source=2&country=GHA</u>
- 19. Central Intelligence Agency. The World Factbook —Ghana [Internet]. [cited 2017 May 14]. Available from: <u>https://www.cia.gov/library/publications/the-world-factbook/geos/gh.html</u>
- 20. Ghana Statistical Service, I.C.F. Macro. Ghana Demographic and Health Survey 2014. Ghana Statistical Service. Ghana Health Service; 2015.
- 21. Brun C, Blaikie P. Alternative Development: Unravelling Marginalization, Voicing Change. Routledge; 2016. 374 p.
- 22. UNESCO Institute for Statistics. Ghana Education and Literacy [Internet]. 2016 [cited 2017 May 14]. <u>Available from: http://uis.unesco.org/en/country/gh</u>
- 23. Ghana Health Workforce Observatory. Ghana Human Resources for Health Country Profile [Internet]. Ministry of Health; 2010 Feb [cited 2017 Jul 13]. Available from: <u>http://www.moh.gov.gh/wp-content/uploads/2016/02/Ghana-hrh-country-profile.pdf</u>
- 24. World Bank. Ghana Looks to Retool Its Economy as it Reaches Middle-Income Status [Internet]. World Bank. 2011 [cited 2017 Jul 13]. Available from: <u>http://www.worldbank.org/en/news/feature/2011/07/18/ghana-looks-to-retool-its-economy-as-it-reaches-middle-income-status</u>
- 25. World Bank. World Bank Data: GDP per capita (current US\$)-Ghana [Internet]. 2016 [cited 2017 May 29]. Available from: <u>http://data.worldbank.org/indicator/NY.GDP.PCAP.CD?locations=GH</u>

- 26. Ghana Statistical Service. 2015 Annual Gross Domestic Product [Internet]. [cited 2017 Jul 13]. Report No.: September 2015 Edition. Available from: <u>http://www.statsghana.gov.gh/docfiles/GDP/GDP2015/2015 Annual GDP Septemb</u> <u>er 2015 Edition.pdf</u>
- 27. Ghana Statistical Service, Noguchi Memorial Institute for Medical Research-NMIMR/Ghana, Macro ORC. Ghana Demographic and Health Survey 2003 [Internet].
 2004 [cited 2017 May 14]. Available from: <u>http://dhsprogram.com/publications/publication-fr152-dhs-final-reports.cfm</u>
- Cooke E, Hague S, Mckay A. Ghana Poverty and Inequality Report-2016 [Internet]. University of Sussex, UNICEF, Ashesi University College; 2016 Mar [cited 2017 May 25]. Available from: <u>https://www.unicef.org/ghana/Ghana Poverty and Inequality Analysis FINAL Matc h 2016(1).pdf</u>
- 29. Salm SJ, Falola T. Culture and Customs of Ghana. Greenwood Publishing Group; 2002. 256 p.
- Aikins A de-Graft, Awuah RB, Pera TA, Mendez M, Ogedegbe G. Explanatory models of diabetes in urban poor communities in Accra, Ghana. Ethn Health. 2015 Jul 4;20(4):391–408.
- de-Graft Aikins A, Boynton P, Atanga LL. Developing effective chronic disease interventions in Africa: insights from Ghana and Cameroon. Glob Health. 2010 Apr 19;6:6.
- 32. Smith F. Community pharmacy in Ghana: enhancing the contribution to primary health care. Health Policy Plan. 2004 Jul 1;19(4):234–41.
- 33. Ministry of Health, Ghana. Private Health Sector Development Policy [Internet]. Ghana;
 2013 [cited 2017 Jul 16]. Available from: <u>https://www.ghanahealthservice.org/downloads/private_health_sector_developmen_t_policy.pdf</u>
- 34. Ghana Health Service. The Health Sector in Ghana: Facts and Figures 2009 [Internet]. Ghana Health Service; [cited 2017 May 18]. Available from: <u>https://www.ghanahealthservice.org/downloads/Facts and Figures 2009.pdf</u>
- 35. National Health Insurance Authority. 2013 Annual Report [Internet]. 2014 Sep [cited 2017 May 23]. Available from: <u>http://www.nhis.gov.gh/files/2013%20Annual%20Report-</u> <u>Final%20ver%2029.09.14.pdf</u>
- 36. Duurzaam, Agrarisch, Innovatief en Internationaal ondernemen. Sector Report, Health and Life Sciences [Internet]. Embassy of the KIngdom of the Netherlands in Ghana; 2015 Apr [cited 2017 May 18]. Available from:

http://ghana.nlambassade.org/binaries/content/assets/postenweb/g/ghana/ambas sade-van-het-koninkrijk-der-nederlanden-inaccra/import/producten en diensten/health-sector-report-ghana-2015-rvo.pdf

- Ghana Health Service. The Health Sector in Ghana: Facts and Figures 2015 [Internet]. [cited 2017 Aug 5]. Available from: <u>http://www.moh.gov.gh/wp-content/uploads/2017/07/Facts-and-figures-2015.pdf</u>
- World Health Organization. Global Health Expenditure Database-Ghana [Internet].
 2014 [cited 2017 May 28]. Available from: http://apps.who.int/nha/database/ViewData/Indicators/en
- 39. World Health Organization. The Abuja Declaration: Ten Years On [Internet]. [cited 2017 Aug 8]. Available from: http://www.who.int/healthsystems/publications/Abuja10.pdf
- 40. Atuoye KN, Vercillo S, Antabe R, Galaa SZ, Luginaah I. Financial sustainability versus access and quality in a challenged health system: an examination of the capitation policy debate in Ghana. Health Policy Plan. 2016 Nov 1;31(9):1240–9.
- 41. National Health Insurance Scheme. Benefits Package [Internet]. [cited 2017 May 28]. Available from: <u>http://www.nhis.gov.gh/benefits.aspx</u>
- 42. Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation. Burden of Disease-Ghana [Internet]. [cited 2017 Jul 29]. Available from: <u>http://www.healthdata.org/ghana</u>
- 43. UNICEF. Immunization Data-Ghana [Internet]. UNICEF DATA. [cited 2017 Jul 29]. Available from: //data.unicef.org/topic/child-health/immunization/
- 44. Maternal Mortality Estimation Inter-Agency Group. Maternal Mortality in 1990 to 2015 [Internet]. WHO, UNICEF, UNFPA, World Bank Group, United Nayions Population Division; [cited 2017 Jul 14]. Available from: <u>http://www.who.int/gho/maternal health/countries/gha.pdf</u>
- 45. Minicuci N, Biritwum RB, Mensah G, Yawson AE, Naidoo N, Chatterji S, et al. Sociodemographic and socioeconomic patterns of chronic non-communicable disease among the older adult population in Ghana. Glob Health Action [Internet]. 2014 Apr 15;7. Available from: <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3991840/</u>
- 46. Agyei-Mensah S, Aikins A de-Graft. Epidemiological Transition and the Double Burden of Disease in Accra, Ghana. J Urban Health. 2010 Sep 1;87(5):879–97.
- 47. Amoah AG. Hypertension in Ghana: a cross-sectional community prevalence study in greater Accra. Ethn Dis. 2003;13(3):310–5.

- 48. WHO NCD Country Profiles. Ghana NCD Profile [Internet]. 2014 [cited 2017 Jul 14]. Available from: <u>http://www.who.int/gho/maternal health/countries/gha.pdf</u>
- 49. Mbanya JCN, Motala AA, Sobngwi E, Assah FK, Enoru ST. Diabetes in sub-Saharan Africa. The Lancet. 2010 Jul 2;375(9733):2254–66.
- 50. Levitt NS. Diabetes in Africa: epidemiology, management and healthcare challenges. Heart. 2008 Nov 1;94(11):1376–82.
- 51. Mohan V, Seedat YK, Pradeepa R. The Rising Burden of Diabetes and Hypertension in Southeast Asian and African Regions: Need for Effective Strategies for Prevention and Control in Primary Health Care Settings. Int J Hypertens. 2013 Mar 14;2013:e409083.
- 52. Population estimates and projections | DataBank [Internet]. [cited 2017 Aug 11]. Available from: <u>http://databank.worldbank.org/data/reports.aspx?source=health-nutrition-and-population-statistics:-population-estimates-and-projections</u>
- 53. Sarfo-Kantanka O, Sarfo FS, Ansah EO, Eghan B, Ayisi-Boateng NK, Acheamfour-Akowuah E. Secular Trends in Admissions and Mortality Rates from Diabetes Mellitus in the Central Belt of Ghana: A 31-Year Review. PLOS ONE. 2016 Nov 22;11(11):e0165905.
- 54. de-Graft Aikins A. Strengthening quality and continuity of diabetes care in rural ghana: a critical social psychological approach. J Health Psychol. 2004 Mar;9(2):295–309.
- 55. Danquah I, Bedu-Addo G, Mockenhaupt FP. Type 2 diabetes mellitus and increased risk for malaria infection. Emerg Infect Dis. 2010 Oct;16(10):1601–4.
- 56. Amoako YA, Laryea DO, Bedu-Addo G, Andoh H, Awuku YA. Clinical and demographic characteristics of chronic kidney disease patients in a tertiary facility in Ghana. Pan Afr Med J. 2014;18:274.
- 57. Camara A, Baldé NM, Enoru S, Bangoura JS, Sobngwi E, Bonnet F. Prevalence of anxiety and depression among diabetic African patients in Guinea: association with HbA1c levels. Diabetes Metab. 2015 Feb;41(1):62–8.
- 58. Hapunda G, Abubakar A, Pouwer F, van de Vijver F. Diabetes mellitus and comorbid depression in Zambia. Diabet Med J Br Diabet Assoc. 2015 Jun;32(6):814–8.
- 59. Fisher L, Glasgow RE, Strycker LA. The Relationship Between Diabetes Distress and Clinical Depression With Glycemic Control Among Patients With Type 2 Diabetes. Diabetes Care. 2010 May;33(5):1034–6.
- 60. Tabong PT-N, Adongo PB. Understanding the social meaning of infertility and childbearing: a qualitative study of the perception of childbearing and childlessness in Northern Ghana. PloS One. 2013;8(1):e54429.

- 61. Gaster B, Hirsch IB. The effects of improved glycemic control on complications in type 2 diabetes. Arch Intern Med. 1998 Jan 26;158(2):134–40.
- 62. Gosmanov AR, Lu JL, Sumida K, Potukuchi PK, Rhee CM, Kalantar-Zadeh K, et al. Synergistic association of combined glycemic and blood pressure level with risk of complications in US veterans with diabetes. J Hypertens. 2016;34(5):907–13.
- 63. Stratton IM, Adler AI, Neil HAW, Matthews DR, Manley SE, Cull CA, et al. Association of glycaemia with macrovascular and microvascular complications of type 2 diabetes (UKPDS 35): prospective observational study. BMJ. 2000 Aug 12;321(7258):405–12.
- 64. Azevedo M, Alla S. Diabetes in Sub-Saharan Africa: Kenya, Mali, Mozambique, Nigeria, South Africa and Zambia. Int J Diabetes Dev Ctries. 2008;28(4):101–8.
- 65. Agyemang C, Meeks K, Beune E, Owusu-Dabo E, Mockenhaupt FP, Addo J, et al. Obesity and type 2 diabetes in sub-Saharan Africans – Is the burden in today's Africa similar to African migrants in Europe? The RODAM study. BMC Med. 2016 Oct 21;14:166.
- 66. Addo J, Agyemang C, de-Graft Aikins A, Beune E, Schulze MB, Danquah I, et al. Association between socioeconomic position and the prevalence of type 2 diabetes in Ghanaians in different geographic locations: the RODAM study. J Epidemiol Community Health. 2017 Jul;71(7):633–9.
- 67. Danquah I, Bedu-Addo G, Terpe K-J, Micah F, Amoako YA, Awuku YA, et al. Diabetes mellitus type 2 in urban Ghana: characteristics and associated factors. BMC Public Health. 2012 Mar 20;12(1):210.
- 68. Aikins A de-Graft. The Regenerative Health and Nutrition Programme Pilot Review [Internet]. Accra, Ghana: Ministry of Health; 2008. Available from: <u>https://www.researchgate.net/publication/296846725 Regenerative Health and N</u> <u>utrition in Ghana An Independent Review of the Ministry of Health Pilot Program</u> <u>me</u>
- 69. Bosu WK. A Comprehensive Review of the Policy and Programmatic Response to Chronic Non-Communicable Disease in Ghana. Ghana Med J. 2012 Jun;46(2 Suppl):69–78.
- 70. Aikins AD-G. Living with Diabetes in Rural and Urban Ghana: A Critical Social Psychological Examination of Illness Action and Scope for Intervention. J Health Psychol. 2003;8(5):557–72.
- 71. American Diabetes Association. Standards of medical care in diabetes—2011. Diabetes Care. 2011;34(Supplement 1):S11–61.
- 72. Ama de-Graft Aikins, Ellis Owusu- Dabo, Charles Agyemang. Diabetes in Ghana: a review of research on prevalence, experiences and healthcare [Internet]. ResearchGate. 2013 [cited 2017 Aug 5]. Available from:

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/288993216 Diabetes in Ghana a revie w of research on prevalence experiences and healthcare

- Roberts MJR Michael R. Drug Coverage in Ghana's National Health Insurance Scheme. In: Pharmaceutical Reform [Internet]. The World Bank; 2011 [cited 2017 May 14]. p. 301–13. Available from: <u>http://elibrary.worldbank.org.vu-nl.idm.oclc.org/doi/abs/10.1596/9780821387603 [</u>
- 74. National Health Insurance Authority. Tariffs for Private Primary Care Hospital-Catering Exclusive. 2013.
- 75. Andrews R, Cooper A, Montgomery A, Norcross A, Peters T, Sharp D, et al. Diet or diet plus physical activity versus usual care in patients with newly diagnosed type 2 diabetes: the Early ACTID randomised controlled trial. The Lancet. 2011 Jul 15;378(9786):129–39.
- 76. Prevention and Control of Noncommunicable Diseases: Guidelines for Primary Health Care in Low Resource Settings [Internet]. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2012 [cited 2017 May 17]. (WHO Guidelines Approved by the Guidelines Review Committee). Available from: <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK148622/</u>
- 77. Van Huffel L, Tomson CRV, Ruige J, Nistor I, Van Biesen W, Bolignano D. Dietary restriction and exercise for diabetic patients with chronic kidney disease: a systematic review. PloS One. 2014;9(11):e113667.
- 78. Schellenberg ES, Dryden DM, Vandermeer B, Ha C, Korownyk C. Lifestyle interventions for patients with and at risk for type 2 diabetes: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Ann Intern Med. 2013 Oct 15;159(8):543–51.
- 79. Nam S, Chesla C, Stotts NA, Kroon L, Janson SL. Barriers to diabetes management: Patient and provider factors. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2011 Jul 1;93(1):1–9.
- 80. Nyavor P, Bani F, Takramah W, Agboli E, Takase M, Margaret ET and. Prevalence and Awareness of Type 2 Diabetes among Traders in Hohoe Municipality, Volta Region-Ghana. J Epidemiol Prev Med [Internet]. 2017 [cited 2017 Aug 4];3(1). Available from: https://www.elynsgroup.com/journal/article/prevalence-and-awareness-oftype-2-diabetes-among-traders-in-hohoe-municipality-volta-region-ghana
- Adu-Mintaah D. Adherence to Anti-Diabetic Medication among Adults Receiving Care at Korle-Bu Polyclinic [Internet] [Thesis]. University of Ghana; 2015 [cited 2017 May 12]. Available from: <u>http://localhost:8080/xmlui/handle/123456789/8848</u>
- 82. Schwellnus MP, Patel DN, Nossel C, Dreyer M, Whitesman S, Derman EW. Healthy lifestyle interventions in general practice Part 4: Lifestyle and diabetes mellitus. South Afr Fam Pract. 2009 Jan 1;51(1):19–25.

- 83. Adisa R, Fakeye TO. Do diabetes-specialty clinics differ in management approach and outcome? A cross-sectional assessment of ambulatory type 2 diabetes patients in two teaching hospitals in Nigeria. Ghana Med J. 2016 Jun;50(2):90–102.
- 84. Epping-Jordan JE, Pruitt SD, Bengoa R, Wagner EH. Improving the quality of health care for chronic conditions. Qual Saf Health Care. 2004 Aug;13(4):299–305.
- 85. Bodenheimer T, Wagner EH, Grumbach K. Improving Primary Care for Patients With Chronic Illness: The Chronic Care Model, Part 2. JAMA. 2002 Oct 16;288(15):1909– 14.
- Ajala O, English P, Pinkney J. Systematic review and meta-analysis of different dietary approaches to the management of type 2 diabetes. Am J Clin Nutr. 2013 Mar 1;97(3):505–16.
- 87. Hordern MD, Dunstan DW, Prins JB, Baker MK, Singh MAF, Coombes JS. Exercise prescription for patients with type 2 diabetes and pre-diabetes: a position statement from Exercise and Sport Science Australia. J Sci Med Sport. 2012 Jan;15(1):25–31.
- 88. Avery L, Flynn D, van Wersch A, Sniehotta FF, Trenell MI. Changing physical activity behavior in type 2 diabetes: a systematic review and meta-analysis of behavioral interventions. Diabetes Care. 2012 Dec;35(12):2681–9.
- 89. World Bank. Data and Statistics:Country Classification, Country Groups [Internet]. [cited 2017 Aug 8]. Available from: <u>http://go.worldbank.org/47F97HK2P0</u>
- 90. World Bank. World Bank Country and Lending Groups World Bank Data Help Desk [Internet]. [cited 2017 Aug 8]. Available from: <u>https://datahelpdesk.worldbank.org/knowledgebase/articles/906519</u>
- 91. Noncommunicable Diseases and Mental Health, WHO. Innovative Care for Chronic Conditions, Building Blocks for Action [Internet]. 2002 [cited 2017 Aug 3]. Available from: <u>http://www.who.int/chp/knowledge/publications/icccglobalreport.pdf?ua=1</u>
- 92. Tol A, Sharifirad G, Shojaezadeh D, Tavasoli E, Azadbakht L. Socio-economic factors and diabetes consequences among patients with type 2 diabetes. J Educ Health Promot [Internet]. 2013 Feb 28;2. Available from: <u>http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3778578/</u>
- 93. Afable A, Karingula NS. Evidence based review of type 2 diabetes prevention and management in low and middle income countries. World J Diabetes. 2016 May 25;7(10):209–29.
- 94. Lachat C, Otchere S, Roberfroid D, Abdulai A, Seret FMA, Milesevic J, et al. Diet and Physical Activity for the Prevention of Noncommunicable Diseases in Low- and Middle-Income Countries: A Systematic Policy Review. PLOS Med. 2013 Jun 11;10(6):e1001465.

- 95. Esterson YB, Carey M, Piette JD, Thomas N, Hawkins M. A Systematic Review of Innovative Diabetes Care Models in Low-and Middle-Income Countries (LMICs). J Health Care Poor Underserved. 2014 Feb 6;25(1):72–93.
- 96. Labhardt ND, Balo J-R, Ndam M, Grimm J-J, Manga E. Task shifting to non-physician clinicians for integrated management of hypertension and diabetes in rural Cameroon: a programme assessment at two years. BMC Health Serv Res. 2010 Dec 14;10:339.
- 97. Pande A, Krishnamoorthy G, Moulick ND. Hypoglycaemic and hypolipidaemic effects of low GI and medium GL Indian diets in type 2 diabetics for a period of 4 weeks: A prospective study. Int J Food Sci Nutr. 2012 Sep 1;63(6):649–58.
- 98. Shenoy S, Guglani R, Sandhu JS. Effectiveness of an aerobic walking program using heart rate monitor and pedometer on the parameters of diabetes control in Asian Indians with type 2 diabetes. Prim Care Diabetes. 2010 Apr;4(1):41–45.
- 99. Misra A, Alappan NK, Vikram NK, Goel K, Gupta N, Mittal K, et al. Effect of supervised progressive resistance-exercise training protocol on insulin sensitivity, glycemia, lipids, and body composition in Asian Indians with type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Care. 2008 Jul;31(7):1282–1287.
- 100. Arora E, Shenoy S, Sandhu JS. Effects of resistance training on metabolic profile of adults with type 2 diabetes. Indian J Med Res. 2009 May;129(5):515–9.
- 101. Adeniyi AF, Uloko AE, Ogwumike OO, Sanya AO, Fasanmade AA. Time course of improvement of metabolic parameters after a 12 week physical exercise programme in patients with type 2 diabetes: the influence of gender in a Nigerian population. BioMed Res Int. 2013;2013:310574.
- 102. Balagopal P, Kamalamma N, Patel TG, Misra R. A community-based participatory diabetes prevention and management intervention in rural India using community health workers. Diabetes Educ. 2012 Dec;38(6):822–34.
- 103. Fisher EB, Boothroyd RI, Coufal MM, Baumann LC, Mbanya JC, Rotheram-Borus MJ, et al. Peer support for self-management of diabetes improved outcomes in international settings. Health Aff Proj Hope. 2012 Jan;31(1):130–9.
- 104. Department of Health, South Africa. Foodstuffs, Cosmetics and DIsinfectants Act, 1972 (Act 54 of 1972): Regulations Relating to the Reduction of Sodium in Certain Foodstuffs and Related Matters [Internet]. 2012 [cited 2017 Jul 27]. Available from: <u>https://extranet.who.int/ncdccs/Data/ZAF B18 Salt%20Regulations.pdf</u>
- 105. Ministry of Health, Ghana. Standard Treatment Guidelines 2010 [Internet]. 2010 [cited 2017 Jul 26]. Available from: <u>http://www.who.int/selection_medicines/country_lists/Ghana_STG_2010.pdf?ua=1</u>
- 106. Ministry of Health. DIETARY AND PHYSICAL ACTIVITY GUIDELINES FOR GHANA ,2010 [Internet]. 2010 [cited 2017 Jul 26]. Available from: <u>http://rhnp.gov.gh/admindox/DIETARY%20AND%20PHYSICAL%20ACTIVITY%20</u> <u>GUIDELINES%20FOR%20GHANA%20Final%20draft%202 akdits%20(2) 5Feb10[1]</u> [1].pdf
- 107. Department of Health, South Africa. Standard Treatment Guidelines, 2014 [Internet]. [cited 2017 Jul 26]. Available from: <u>http://www.health.gov.za/index.php/2014-03-17-09-09-38/policies-and-guidelines/doc3</u>
- 108. Society for Endocrinology, Metabolism and Diabetes of South Africa (SEMDSA). 2012 SEMDSA Guidelines for T2 Diabetes Mellitus.pdf. [Internet]. [cited 2017 Jul 26]. Available from: <u>http://www.kznhealth.gov.za/family/2012 SEMDSA Guidelines for T2 Diabetes Mellitus.pdf</u>
- 109. Federal Ministry of Health, Nigeria. Standard Treatment Guidelines. [Internet]. 2008 [cited 2017 Jul 26]. <u>Available from: https://www.medbox.org/nigeria/standard-treatment-guidelines-nigeria/preview?q=</u>
- 110. Non-Communicable Disease Control Programme, Federal Ministry of Health, Abuja, Nigeria. National Nutritional Guideline On Non-Communicable Disease Prevention, Control and Management [Internet]. [cited 2017 Jul 26]. Available from: <u>http://www.health.gov.ng/doc/NutritionalGuideline.pdf</u>
- 111. Ministry of Health, Sri Lanka, World Health Organization, Japan International Cooperation Agency. Guideline for Management of NCDs in Primary Health Care (Total Risk Assessment Approach) [Internet]. [cited 2017 Jul 26]. Available from: <u>https://extranet.who.int/ncdccs/Data/LKA D1 NCD%20Management%20Protocol.p</u> <u>df</u>
- 112. Nutrition Division-Ministry of Health. Food Based Dietary Guidelines for Sri Lankans [Internet]. 2011 [cited 2017 Aug 14]. Available from: <u>http://www.fao.org/3/a-as886e.pdf</u>
- 113. Ministry of Health, Uganda. Republic of Uganda UGANDA CLINICAL GUIDELINES 2012 National Guidelines for Management of Common Conditions [Internet]. 2012 [cited 2017 Jul 26]. Available from: http://apps.who.int/medicinedocs/documents/s21741en/s21741en.pdf
- 114. Ministry of Health, Ghana. National Policy for the Prevention and Control of Chronic Non-Communicable Diseases in Ghana [Internet]. 2012 Aug [cited 2017 Jul 16]. Available from: <u>http://afrolib.afro.who.int/doc num.php?explnum id=7574</u>
- 115. Non-Communicable Disease Prevention and Control Programme, Federal Ministry of Health. National Policy And Strategic Plan of Action On Non-Communicable Diseases (NCDs) [Internet]. 2013 [cited 2017 Jul 26]. Available from:

http://www.health.gov.ng/doc/Final%20Policy%20Document%20on%20Non%20C ommunicable%20Diseases%20(NCDs).pdf

- 116. Ministry of Health, Ghana. Strategy for the Management, Prevention and Control of Chronic Non-Communicable Diseases in Ghana 2012-2016.
- 117. Non-Communicable Disease Division, Federal Ministry of Health, Abuja, Nigeria. National Strategic Plan of Action on Prevention and Control of Non-Communicable Diseases [Internet]. 2015 [cited 2017 Jul 26]. Available from: <u>http://www.health.gov.ng/doc/National%20Strategic%20Plan%20on%20NCDs.pdf</u>
- 118. Ministry of Health, South Africa. Strategic Plan for the Prevention and Control of Non-Communicable Diseases 2013-17 [Internet]. 2013 [cited 2017 Jul 26]. Available from: <u>https://extranet.who.int/ncdccs/Data/ZAF_B3_NCDs%20STRAT%20PLAN%20%20</u> <u>CONTENT_final.pdf</u>
- 119. Ministry of Health, Sri Lanka. The National Policy and Strategic Framework for Prevention and Control of Chronic Non-Communicable Diseases [Internet]. 2009. Available from: <u>http://203.94.76.60/NCD/temp/NCD%20Policy%20English.pdf</u>
- 120. MINISTRY OF HEALTH, NUTRITION AND INDIGENOUS MEDICINE, SRI LANKA. NATIONAL MULTISECTORAL ACTION PLAN FOR THE PREVENTION AND CONTROL OF NONCOMMUNICABLE DISEASES 2016-2020 [Internet]. [cited 2017 Jul 26]. Available from: <u>http://www.searo.who.int/srilanka/documents/national ncd action plan sri lanka.</u> <u>pdf?ua=1</u>
- 121. NPCDCS Final Operational Guidelines.pdf [Internet]. [cited 2017 Aug 14]. Available from: <u>https://www.karnataka.gov.in/hfw/nhm/Documents/NPCDCS%20Final%20Operational%20Guidelines.pdf</u>
- 122. Bhushan B., Bedi S., Kala S. Effect of diet and exercise on blood glucose level in non insulin dependent diabetics. Int J Pharm Pharm Sci. 2013;5(SUPPL.4):35–39.
- 123. Masrul, E. D, I. P, N.I. L. Effect of modified diet and exercise on insulin level in diabetes mellitus type-2 patients. Pak J Nutr. 2016;15(4):370–373.
- 124. Muchiri JW, Gericke GJ, Rheeder P. Effect of a nutrition education programme on clinical status and dietary behaviours of adults with type 2 diabetes in a resource-limited setting in South Africa: a randomised controlled trial. Public Health Nutr. 2016 Jan;19(1):142–55.
- 125. Sonomtseren S, Sankhuu Y, Warfel JD, Johannsen DL, Peterson CM, Vandanmagsar B. Lifestyle modification intervention improves glycemic control in Mongolian adults who are overweight or obese with newly diagnosed type 2 diabetes. Obes Sci Pract. 2016 Sep;2(3):303–8.

- 126. van der Does AMB, Mash R. Evaluation of the "Take Five School": An education programme for people with Type 2 Diabetes in the Western Cape, South Africa. Prim Care Diabetes. 2013 Dec;7(4):289–95.
- 127. Adepu R, Rasheed A, Nagavi BG. Effect of patient counseling on quality of life in type-2 diabetes mellitus patients in two selected South Indian community pharmacies: A study. Indian J Pharm Sci. 2016 May 20;69(4):519.
- 128. Malathy R, Narmadha M, Ramesh S, Alvin JM, Dinesh BN. Effect of a diabetes counseling programme on knowledge, attitude and practice among diabetic patients in Erode district of South India. J Young Pharm JYP. 2011;3(1):65–72.
- 129. Willis-Shattuck M, Bidwell P, Thomas S, Wyness L, Blaauw D, Ditlopo P. Motivation and retention of health workers in developing countries: a systematic review. BMC Health Serv Res. 2008 Dec 4;8:247.
- 130. Kähkönen O, Kankkunen P, Saaranen T, Miettinen H, Kyngäs H, Lamidi M-L. Motivation is a crucial factor for adherence to a healthy lifestyle among people with coronary heart disease after percutaneous coronary intervention. J Adv Nurs. 2015 Oct 1;71(10):2364–73.
- 131. Jayasuriya R, Pinidiyapathirage MJ, Jayawardena R, Kasturiratne A, de Zoysa P, Godamunne P, et al. Translational research for Diabetes Self-Management in Sri Lanka: A randomized controlled trial. Prim Care Diabetes. 2015 Oct;9(5):338–45.
- 132. Shetty AS, Chamukuttan S, Nanditha A, Raj RKC, Ramachandran A. Reinforcement of adherence to prescription recommendations in Asian Indian diabetes patients using short message service (SMS)--a pilot study. J Assoc Physicians India. 2011 Nov;59:711–4.
- 133. Shenoy S, Guglani R, Sandhu JS. Effectiveness of Walking with Pedometer and Heart Rate Monitor on The Quality of Life and Wellbeing in Asian Indians with Type 2 Diabetes. Ibnosina J Med Biomed Sci. 2009 Sep 2;1(2):46–57.
- 134. Guglani R, Shenoy S, Sandhu JS. Effect of progressive pedometer based walking intervention on quality of life and general well being among patients with type 2 diabetes. J Diabetes Metab Disord. 2014;13(1):110.
- 135. Donnachie C, Wyke S, Mutrie N, Hunt K. "It"s like a personal motivator that you carried around wi' you': utilising self-determination theory to understand men's experiences of using pedometers to increase physical activity in a weight management programme. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act. 2017 May 5;14:61.
- 136. Çolak TK, Acar G, Dereli EE, Özgül B, Demirbüken İ, Alkaç Ç, et al. Association between the physical activity level and the quality of life of patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. J Phys Ther Sci. 2016 Jan;28(1):142–7.

- 137. Mash RJ, Rhode H, Zwarenstein M, Rollnick S, Lombard C, Steyn K, et al. Effectiveness of a group diabetes education programme in under-served communities in South Africa: a pragmatic cluster randomized controlled trial. Diabet Med J Br Diabet Assoc. 2014 Aug;31(8):987–93.
- 138. Ayele K, Tesfa B, Abebe L, Tilahun T, Girma E. Self Care Behavior among Patients with Diabetes in Harari, Eastern Ethiopia: The Health Belief Model Perspective. PLOS ONE. 2012 Apr 17;7(4):e35515.
- 139. Sreedevi A, Gopalakrishnan UA, Karimassery Ramaiyer S, Kamalamma L. A Randomized controlled trial of the effect of yoga and peer support on glycaemic outcomes in women with type 2 diabetes mellitus: a feasibility study. BMC Complement Altern Med. 2017 Feb 7;17(1):100.
- 140. Amoah AGB, Owusu SK, Acheampong JW, Agyenim-Boateng K, Asare HR, Owusu AA, et al. A national diabetes care and education programme: the Ghana model. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2000 Aug 1;49(2):149–57.
- 141. Aryeetey RNO, Boateng L, Sackey D. State of Dietetics Practice in Ghana. Ghana Med J. 2014 Dec;48(4):219.
- 142. Kwadwo Ansong-Nutritionist, Sunyani Regional Hospital, Ghana. Availability of Dietary and Physical Activity Guidelines. 2017.
- 143. Shenoy S., Arora E., Jaspal S. Effects of progressive resistance training and aerobic exercise on type 2 diabetics in Indian population. Int J Diabetes Metab. 2009;17(1):27–30.
- 144. Yan H, Prista A, Ranadive SM, Damasceno A, Caupers P, Kanaley JA, et al. Effect of Aerobic Training on Glucose Control and Blood Pressure in T2DDM East African Males. ISRN Endocrinol. 2014;2014:864897.
- 145. Hameed UA, Manzar D, Raza S, Shareef MY, Hussain ME. Resistance Training Leads to Clinically Meaningful Improvements in Control of Glycemia and Muscular Strength in Untrained Middle-aged Patients with type 2 Diabetes Mellitus. North Am J Med Sci. 2012 Aug;4(8):336–343.
- 146. Bello AI, Owusu-Boakye E, Adegoke BO, Adjei DN. Effects of aerobic exercise on selected physiological parameters and quality of life in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. Int J Gen Med. 2011;4:723–7.
- 147. Sanghani NB, Parchwani DN, Palandurkar KM, Shah AM, Dhanani JV. Impact of lifestyle modification on glycemic control in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus. Indian J Endocrinol Metab. 2013 Nov;17(6):1030–1039.

- 148. Abubakari BB, Ibrahim MM, Mutawakilu I, Porrata-Maury C, Ruíz- Alvarez V, Hernández-Triana M, et al. Ma-Pi 2 macrobiotic diet intervention during 21 days in adults with type 2 diabetes mellitus, Ghana 2011. Intern Med Inside. 2014;2(1):3.
- 149. Madanmohan, Bhavanani AB, Dayanidy G, Sanjay Z, Basavaraddi IV. Effect of yoga therapy on reaction time, biochemical parameters and wellness score of peri and post-menopausal diabetic patients. Int J Yoga. 2012;5(1):10–5.
- 150. Shantakumari N, Sequeira S, El deeb R. Effects of a yoga intervention on lipid profiles of diabetes patients with dyslipidemia. Indian Heart J. 2013;65(2):127–131.
- 151. Ministry of Health, Ghana. Holistic Assessment of the Health Sector Programme of Work 2014 [Internet]. 2015 [cited 2017 Jul 26]. Available from: <u>http://www.moh.gov.gh/wp-content/uploads/2016/02/Holistic-Assessment-</u> <u>2015.pdf</u>
- 152. Ministry of Health, Ghana. Holistic Assessment of the Health Sector Programme of Work 2013 [Internet]. [cited 2017 Jul 26]. Available from: <u>http://www.moh.gov.gh/wp-content/uploads/2016/02/Holistic-Assessment-Report-June-2014140811072318.pdf</u>
- 153. Ministry of Health, Ghana. Ghana Health Sector: 2012 Programme of Work [Internet]. [cited 2017 Jul 26]. Available from: <u>http://www.moh.gov.gh/wp-</u> <u>content/uploads/2016/02/Annual-Programme-of-Work-2012.pdf</u>
- 154. Ministry of Health, Ghana. Ghana Health Sector: 2013 Programme of Work [Internet]. [cited 2017 Jul 26]. Available from: <u>http://www.moh.gov.gh/wp-</u> <u>content/uploads/2016/02/Annual-Programme-of-Work-2013.pdf</u>
- 155. Ministry of Health, Ghana. Ghana Health Sector 2014 Programme of Work [Internet]. [cited 2017 Jul 26]. Available from: <u>http://www.moh.gov.gh/wp-</u> <u>content/uploads/2016/02/Annual-Programme-of-Work-2014.pdf</u>
- 156. Ministry of Health, Ghana. Ghana Health Sector: 2015 Programme of Work [Internet]. [cited 2017 Jul 26]. Available from: <u>http://www.moh.gov.gh/wp-</u> <u>content/uploads/2016/02/Programme-of-Work-2015.pdf</u>
- 157. Ghana Health Service. 2016 ANNUAL REPORT [Internet]. 2017 Jun [cited 2017 Aug 8]. Available from: http://www.ghanahealthservice.org/downloads/GHS ANNUAL REPORT 2016 .pdf
- 158. Department of Health, South Africa. Promotion of physical Activity Engage in 30 minutes of physical activity everyday [Internet]. [cited 2017 Jul 26]. Available from: http://www.health.gov.za/index.php/shortcodes/2015-03-29-10-42-47/2015-04-30-08-29-27/2015-04-30-08-35-13

- 159. Department of Health, South Africa. Promoting Healthy Lifestyle: Booklet on noncommunicable diseases [Internet]. [cited 2017 Jul 26]. Available from: <u>http://www.health.gov.za/index.php/shortcodes/2015-03-29-10-42-47/2015-04-30-08-29-27/2015-04-30-08-35-13</u>
- 160. Department of Health, South Africa. 2015/2016 Annual Report [Internet]. [cited 2017 Jul 26]. Available from: <u>http://www.health.gov.za/index.php/2014-03-17-09-09-38/2014-03-17-09-24-31</u>
- 161. Mark Spires, Peter Delobelle, David Sanders, Thandi Puoane, Philipp Hoelzel, Rina Swart. Diet Related non-communicable diseases in South Africa: determinants and policy responses. South African Health Review 2016 [Internet]. [cited 2017 Jul 26]. Available from: <u>https://www.health-e.org.za/wp-content/uploads/2016/05/South-African-Health-Review-2016.pdf</u>
- 162. Joint Mission of the United Nations. Joint Mission of the United Nations Interagency Taskforce on the Prevention and Control of NCDs. India 8-12 December, 2014 [Internet]. 2014 [cited 2017 Aug 14]. Available from: <u>http://www.searo.who.int/india/publications/joint_monitoring_mission_book_2015</u> <u>part1.pdf?ua=1</u>
- 163. Kilby C. The political economy of conditionality: An empirical analysis of World Bank loan disbursements. J Dev Econ. 2009 May 1;89(1):51–61.
- 164. Department of Community Medicine. Physician Assistant Curriculum: Bachelor of Science Community Medicine and Health. College of Health, Yamfo; 2015.
- 165. Medical and Dental Council, Ghana. CONTINUING PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT RENEWAL OF REGISTRATION MEDICAL & DENTAL PRACTITIONERS [Internet]. 2015 [cited 2017 Aug 3]. Available from: <u>http://mdcghana.org/docs/CPD%20Policy%202016%20-</u> %20Medical%20and%20Dental%20Practitioners.pdf
- 166. Medical and Dental Council, Ghana. CONTINUING PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT FOR PHYSICIAN ASSISTANTS & CERTIFIED REGISTERED ANAESTHETISTS [Internet]. [cited 2017 Aug 3]. Available from: http://mdcghana.org/docs/CPD%20Policy%202016%20-%20PAs%20and%20CRAs.pdf
- 167. Nurses and Midwifery Council, Ghana. CPD TRAINING [Internet]. [cited 2017 Aug 3]. Available from: <u>http://www.nmcgh.org/t3f/en/who-we-are/our-clients/training-institutions/80-professionals/108-cpd-training</u>
- 168. Medical and Dental Council, Ghana. CPD ACCREDITED PROGRAMMES-2016 [Internet]. 2016 [cited 2017 Jul 29]. Available from: http://mdcghana.org/docs/CPD%20ACCREDITED%20PROGRAMMES-2016.pdf

- 169. Dr. Lanka Jayasuriya-Dissanayake. Policies and approaches for integrating essential NCD interventions into Primary Care [Internet]. PDF presented at; [cited 2017 Aug 8]. Available from:
 <u>http://www.searo.who.int/entity/noncommunicable_diseases/events/ncd_workshop_2014_primary_care.pdf</u>
- 170. Ghana Health Service. 2014 Annual Report [Internet]. 2015 Jul [cited 2017 Jul 16]. Available from: <u>http://www.ghanahealthservice.org/downloads/Ghana Health Service 2014 Annua l Report.pdf</u>
- 171. Ministry of Trade and Industry, Ghana. The Ghana Sugar Policy Intent and Development Process [Internet]. [cited 2017 Jul 27]. Available from: <u>http://moti.gov.gh/sites/default/files/content/documents/files/The%20Ghana%20</u> <u>Sugar%20Policy%20-%20Intent%20and%20Development%20Process.pdf</u>
- 172. Ministry of Youth and Sports, Ghana. MoYS to INTRODUCE YOGA IN SCHOOLS. 2017 Jun 22 [cited 2017 Jul 19]; Available from: <u>http://moys.gov.gh/moys/?p=1397</u>

Annex

Annex 1: The Innovative Care for Chronic Conditions Framework



Innovative Care for Chronic Conditions Framework

Better Outcomes for Chronic Condit

Source WHO, 200291

No	Authors	Study Location	Sample size	Retention Rate	Study Design	Intervention Duration	Intervention on:	Intervention
96	Labhardt et al	Central District, Cameroon	796	18.10%	Integrated primary health care program	2years	Equipping health care teams (Meso level)	Equipped and trained non- physician health workers
97	Pande et al	Mumbai, India	15	100%	Prospective study	4 weeks	Supporting self management (Meso level)	Low glycaemic index and medium glycaemic load diet plan
98	Shenoy et al	Amritsar, Punjab, India	40	NS	RCT	8 weeks	Supporting self management (Meso level)	Supervised exercise sessions with pedometers and heart rate monitors
99	Misra et al	New Delhi, India	30	NS	Experimental study	12 weeks	Supporting self management (Meso level)	Supervised progressive resistance exercise training

Annex 2: Table Showing Characteristics of Intervention Studies

100	Arora et al	Amritsar, Punjab, India	30 (10 per group)	NS	RCT	8 wk.	Supporting self management (Meso level)	Supervised exercise sessions
101	Adeniyi et al	Kano, Nigeria	32	90.60%	Experimental study	12 weeks	Supporting self management (Meso level)	Supervised exercise sessions
102	Balagopal et al	Rural India	1681 (Diabetes prevalence 7%)	81.90%	Intervention study	6 months	Community partners (micro level) and community (meso level)	Community- based education
103	Fisher et al	Uganda, South Africa, Cameroun	Uganda= 46 South Africa= 22 Cameroun= 100	NS	Intervention study	Uganda= 3 months, South Africa= 3 months, Cameroun= 6months	Community partners (Micro level)	Peer support and buddy system
122	Bhushan et al	Haryana, India	50	NS	Mixed study: cross sectional survey and intervention study	2 months	Patients (Micro level)	Education in nutrition and exercise
123	Masrul et al	Surabaya, Indonesia	110	NS	Experimental study	6 months	Patients (micro level)	Modified diet and exercise consultation.
124	Muchiri et al	North West Province, South Africa	82	92.70%	RCT	June 2010- Nov 2011	Patients (Micro level)	Education in nutrition and exercise, including vegetable gardening

125	Sonomtseren et al	Ulaanbaatar city, Mongolia	92	87%	Intervention study	6 months	Patients (Micro level)	Education sessions with distribution of education materials
126	Van der Does et al	Western Cape, South Africa	84	NS	Intervention study	4 weeks	Patients (micro level)	Education of patients with dietician, health promoter or physician
127	Adepu et al	South India	70	100%	Randomized, prospective controlled study	6 months	Patient Interaction	Pharmacist-led counselling
128	Malathy R et al	Erode, Tamil Nadu, India	207	NS	RCT	3 months	Patients (micro level)	Pharmacist-led counselling
131	Jayasuriya et al	Western Province, Sri Lanka	30 control, 30 intervention	Intervention: 90% and control: 83%	RCT	6months	Health care workers (micro-level)	Nurse-led counselling
132	Shetty et al	Chennai, India	215	NS	RCT	1 year	Patient Interaction	SMS messages on education, including physical activity and dietary advice

133	Shenoy et al	Amritsar, Punjab, India	40	NS	RCT	8 weeks	Patients (Micro level) and supporting self- management (meso level)	Group A: unsupervised exercises Group B: Supervised exercise sessions with pedometer and heart monitor
134	Guglani et al	Guru Nanak Dev University, Amritsar	102	88%	RCT	16 weeks	Patients (micro level) and Supporting self management (Meso level)	Supervised exercises group and unsupervised exercise group, both with pedometers
137	Mash et al	Cape Town, South Africa	1570	Intervention: 55.1% Control: 55.2%	Cluster randomized controlled trial	6 months	Health care workers (micro-level)	Education by health promoters from district health facilities
139	Sreedevi et al	Kerala, India	124	NS	RCT	3 months	Community Partners (micro level) and Complementary services (Meso level)	Yoga intervention group and peer support intervention group
143	Shenoy et al	Amritsar, Punjab, India	30 (10 per group)	NS	RCT	16 weeks	Supporting self management (Meso level)	Supervised exercise sessions

144	Yan et al	Maputo, Mozambique	41	100%	RCT	12 weeks	Supporting self management (Meso level)	Low intensity or vigorous intensity supervised exercise
145	Hameed et al	New Delhi	48	85%	RCT	8 weeks	Supporting self management (Meso level)	Supervised exercise sessions
146	Bello et al	Accra, Ghana	18	100%	RCT	8 weeks	Supporting self management (Meso level)	Physiotherapis t-supervised sessions
147	Sanghani et al	Ahmedabad (Gujarat). India	279	87%	RCT	6 months	Supporting self management (Meso level)	Physiotherapis t and fitness professional supervised exercises in patients
148	Abubakari et al	Tamale, Ghana	23	NS	Clinical Trial	21 days	Supporting self management (Meso level)	Vegetarian diet for participants
149	Madanmohan et al	India	15	NS	RCT	6 weeks	Complementary services (Meso level: Community)	Yoga
150	Shantakumari et al	Kerala, India	100	NS	RCT	3 months	Complementary services (Meso level)	Yoga

Νο	Study population	Country	Recruitmen t site	% of wome n	Age(years)	Education level	Socioeconomic status	Physical activity status
96	Labhardt et al	Cameroun	District primary care centres	69	Mean =60	NS	Two thirds of population in study setting are from remote rural areas	NS
97	Pande et al	India	Tertiary Hospital	40	42 - 58	NS	73% Municipal employees	NS
98	Shenoy et al	India	University Health Centre	27.5	40 -70	NS	NS	NS
99	Misra et al	India	Medical OPD and diabetes clinic	27	24-50	NS	NS	Most patients were following aerobic exercise prescriptions
100	Arora et al	India	University Health Centre	46.7	40-70	NS	NS	Inactive lifestyle
101	Adeniyi et al	Nigeria	Diabetes clinic	72.4	Female: 46.2 Male: 51.5	NS	NS	Sedentary patients
102	Balagopal et al	India	Rural community	NS	≥18	Illiteracy rate ranged from 9.7% to 50.5%	Income In Indian Rupees:<1500= 36.7%, 1500-3000= 37.3%, >3500=25.8%	Sedentary: 25.8%, Light=37.7%, Moderate=11.7 % Heavy=24.7
103	Fisher et al	Uganda, South Africa,	NS	South Africa =100	Varies	NS	NS	NS

Annex 3: Table Showing Characteristics of Patients in Intervention Studies

		Cameroun						
122	Bhushan et al	India	City	56	40-60	NS	NS	Only 32% walking
123	Masrul et al	Indonesia	Tertiary Hospital	67.3	Mean: Intervention: 55.9. Control: 57.9	High education: 70.9% Low education: 29.1%	Government employee: Intervention 41.9% Control 49.1% Self employed Intervention 7.2% Control 7.2%	Inactive lifestyle
124	Muchiri et al	South Africa	Community health centres	85.5	40-70	NoformaleducationIntervention4.9Control12.2	Unemployed (>80 %), Pension: (>45 %) other forms of grants (>14 %)	NS
125	Sonomtsere n et al	Mongolia	Health Centres	59		NS	NS	NS
126	Van der Does et al	South Africa	Rural primary care facilities	81%	Mean 51.6	NS	People from a low socioeconomic area	NS
127	Adepu et al	India	Community Pharmacies	31	> 30	NS	NS	NS

128	Malathy et al	India	Selected multi- specialty hospitals and one diabetic clinic	58.9	>30	Illiteracy: Intervention 29.2% Control 31.4%	NS	NS
131	Jayasuriya et al	Sri Lanka	Diabetes clinic	83	≥40 and < 70	NS	NS	NS
132	Shetty et al	India	Hospital setting		30 - 60	NS	NS	NS
133	Shenoy et al	India	University Health Centre	32.5	40 - 70	NS	NS	NS
134	Guglani et al	India	University	27	40-70	NS	NS	NS
137	Mash et al	South Africa	Community health centres	73.8	Mean: Control: 56.4 (11.6) Intervention 55.8 (11.5)	NS	People in under- served communities	Exercise, days/week Control 3.0 (2.3) Intervention 3.5 (2.4)
139	Sreedevi et al	India	Rural Health centre	100	30-65	NS	Income Mean (Indian rupees): Control 1602, Yoga group 986.57 Peer support 717	NS
143	Shenoy et al	India	University Health Centre	47	Mean Age: Intervention PRT: 49.6 Intervention AE: 52.2 Control: 58.4	NS	NS	Inactive lifestyle

144	Yan et al	Mozambiqu e	Diabetes clinic	0	40 - 70	NS	NS	Physically active participants
145	Hameed et al	India	Out-patient clinics	27	35 and 55	NS	NS	Inactive lifestyle
146	Bello et al	Ghana	Diabetes clinic	NS	20-65	NS	NS	Inactive lifestyle
147	Sanghani et al	India	Diabetes clinics	44	30 to 60	NS	NS	Sedentary patients
148	Abubakari et al	Ghana	Tertiary Hospital	NS	25-70	NS	NS	NS
149	Madanmoha n et al	India	Diabetes clinic	100	36 - 63	NS	NS	NS
150	Shantakuma ri et al	India	Diabetes clinic	48	44.5 and 45.5	NS	NS	NS
NS: Not	stated							

No	Authors	Comparison Group	Significant positive outcome measures
96	Labhardt et al*	None	No significant outcomes
97	Pande et al	None	Mean HbA1c decreased from 8.0 to 7.1% (p<0.001). Fasting blood glucose decreased also from 173.6mg% to 137.8mg% (p<0.001). Total cholesterol fell from 173.5mg% to 134.6mg% (p<0.001)
98	Shenoy et al	One control and one intervention group	Decrease in HbA1c from 7.25% to 6.5% in intervention group ($p=0.0023$) compared to no change in control. Increase in general wellbeing in intervention group by 28.8% compared to decrease in control group by 12.1% ($p=0.0001$)
99	Misra et al	None	Improvement in insulin sensitivity ($p<0.000$). HbA1c declined by 0.33% ($p<0.001$)
100	Arora et al	One control and two intervention groups	PRT group: 17.7% and AE group: 17.9% decrease in HbA1c (p <0.05) PRT group: 6.5% and AE group: 6.2% decrease in SBP (p <0.05). PRT group: 8.6% increase in General wellbeing (p <0.05)
101	Adeniyi et al	None	Fasting glucose, Triglycerides and waist circumference in all participants and systolic blood pressure (in men only)
102	Balagopal et al*	None	Fasting blood glucose reduced by 19.08 mg/dl (p<0.001). Knowledge on benefits of moderate physical activity increased by 12%. Systolic BP decreased by 6.21mmHg (p<0.001). Physical activity increased by 14% (p< 0.001). Vegetable consumption increased by 0.19 servings per day (p<0.001)
103	Fisher et al	None	Cameroun = decreased in BMI from 28.6 t o25.5kg/m2, systolic BP from 142 to 124.4mmHg and diastolic from 84.4 to 77.7 mmHg) HbA1c decreased from 9.6% to 5.7% (p values not stated) Uganda =HbA1c decreased from 11.1% to 8.3%. Diastolic BP decreased from 85.4 to 76.3 (p values not stated
122	Bhushan et al	None	Physically active (walking) participants increased from 32% at baseline to 72% (p <0.001). Frequency of being mentally tense often decreased from 60% to 30% (p <0.001)
123	Masrul et al	One control and one intervention group	Total consumption of energy lower in intervention group (1774.3kcal) compared to control (1956.7) (p<0.05)
124	Muchiri et al	One control and one intervention group	Intervention group had decreased median energy intake (5988kJ/d) compared to control (6946kJ/d) (p=0.017)

Annex 4 Table showing Outcome measures of Intervention Studies

125	Sonomtseren et al	None	Average loss of 4.9% of mean weight from baseline, fasting blood glucose reduced significantly from 11.6 to 8.2 mmol/l (p<0.000). Mean HbA1c levels decreased from 8.5 to 6.0% (p<0.000). Normal range, pre-diabetic and diabetic classifications of participants had changed from 18.8%, 5% and 76.3% to 56.3%, 16.3% and 27.5% respectively. Total cholesterol reduced from 3.92mmol/l to 3.13mmol/l. (p<0.000)
126	Van der Dos et al	None	NA
127	Adepu et al	One control and one intervention group	56.3mg/dl decrease in glucose levels (p<0.05), improved QoL in test group (p<0.05)
128	Malathy R et al	One control and one intervention group	Triglyceride levels decreased from 150.9 to 140.6mg/dL (p<0.001) in intervention group compared to control group. HDL increased from 34.9mg/dL to 36.6mg/dL (p=0.05)
131	Jayasuriya et al	One control and one intervention group	Decrease in HbA1c in intervention group (from 9.8% to 7%) compared to control (from 9.8 to 8.3%) ($p=0.035$). 28% of intervention group reaching target compared to 8% in control ($p<0.001$)
132	Shetty et al	One control and one intervention group	Fasting plasma glucose decreased in intervention group from 185 to 166mg/dl ($p<0.002$). Two hour post prandial glucose levels decreased from 263 to 220mg/dl in intervention group ($p<0.002$)
133	Shenoy et al	One control and one intervention group	No significant between group outcomes
134	Guglani et al	One control and two intervention groups	Overall well being compared to control: supervised group=43% and unsupervised group =19.2% (p <0.001)
137	Mash et al	One control and one intervention group	No significant between group outcomes.
139	Sreedevi et al	One control and two intervention groups	Decrease in diastolic bp of yoga group by 3mmHg (0.035)
143	Shenoy et al	One control and two intervention groups	Decrease in HbA1c by 0.69% in intervention group compared to control group $(p<0.01)$
144	Yan et al#	One control and two intervention groups	Systolic BP reduced from 131 to 129mmHg in intervention and diastolic bp reduced from 80 to 77mmHg in intervention group (p<0.05)
145	Hameed et al	One control and one intervention group	Decrease in HbA1c in intervention group compared to control by 0.6% (p<0.001)
146	Bello et al	One control and one intervention group	No significant between group outcomes.
147	Sanghani et al	One control and two intervention groups	Structured exercise reduced HbA1c by 0.69% in intervention group compared to control (p=0.02)

148	Abubakari et al	None	47% decrease in glucose levels (p=0.000) 24.5% increase in HDL (p=0.001)				
149	Madanmohan et al	None	FBG decreased by 20.6% ($p=0.0035$). PPBG decreased by 14.5% ($p=0.0012$). Total Cholesterol decreased by 5.1% ($p=0.016$). 7% of participants attained complete relief, 27% were much better than before, 1% was worse than before				
150	Shantakumari et al	One control and one intervention group	Reduction in weight in intervention group (from 62.2 to 59.60kg) $p<0.05$. Decrease in total cholesterol in intervention group (from 244.8 to 219.5mg/dl) $p<0.001$				
*Outc NA= r #= Re	*Outcomes refer to only outcomes for people with diabetes in the study NA= not applicable. This was a qualitative study #= Results for both intervention groups were combined and compared with control group.						